Agenda Item 16

# GUIDELINES FOR PRESCRIBING CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES FOR PAIN

# MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA

# OCTOBER 2014 (DRAFT)

Edmund G. Brown Jr., Governor David Serrano Sewell, J.D., President, Medical Board of California Kimberly Kirchmeyer, Executive Director, Medical Board of California



# Guidelines for Prescribing Controlled Substances for Pain

## Table of Contents

PREAMBLE	. 1
UNDERSTANDING PAIN	. 2
Pain	. 2
Acute and Chronic Pain	. 3
Nociceptive and Neuropathic Pain	. 3
Cancer and Non-Cancer Pain	. 3
Tolerance, Dependence and Addiction	. 4
Pain as an Illness	. 4
SPECIAL PATIENT POPULATIONS	. 4
Acute Pain	. 4
Emergency Departments	. 5
End-of-Life Pain	. 6
Cancer Pain	. 6
Older Adults	. 7
Pediatric Patients	. 7
Pregnant Women	. 7
Patients Covered by Workers' Compensation	.7
Patients with History of Substance Use Disorder	. 8
Psychiatric Patients	. 9
Patients Prescribed Benzodiazepines	. 9
Patients Prescribed Methadone or Buprenorphine for Treatment of a Substance Use Disorder	; . 9
PATIENT EVALUATION AND RISK STRATIFICATION	. 9
CONSULTATION	10
TREATMENT PLAN AND OBJECTIVES	10
PATIENT CONSENT	11
PAIN MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT	11
COUNSELING PATIENTS ON OVERDOSE RISK AND RESPONSE	12
INITIATING OPIOID TRIAL	13
Dosing Recommendations For Opioid Naïve Patients	14

Morphine Equivalent Dose (MED) 14
ONGOING PATIENT ASSESSMENT
COMPLIANCE MONITORING
CURES Report
Drug Testing16
Pill Counting17
DISCONTINUING OPIOID THERAPY
MEDICAL RECORDS
SUPERVISING ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONALS
COMPLIANCE WITH CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES LAWS
Appendix 1 - Clinical Policy: Critical Issues in the Prescribing of Opioids for Adult
Appendix 2 Older Adulte
Appendix 2 - Older Adults
Appendix 3 - Pediatric Patients
Appendix 4 - Patient Evaluation and Risk Stratification
Appendix 5 - CAGE-AID
Appendix 6 - PHQ-9 Nine Symptom Checklist
Appendix 7 - Opioid Risk Tool (ORT)A10
Appendix 8 - SOAPP®-R
Appendix 9 - Pain Intensity and Interference (pain scale)
Appendix 10 - Sheehan Disability Scale
Appendix 11 - Therapeutic Options for Pain Management
Appendix 12 - Non-Opioid Pain Management Tool
Appendix 13 – Suggested Language on Naloxone for Pain Management AgreementA29
Appendix 14 – Suggested Patient Pain Medication Agreement and Consent
Appendix 15 – Suggested Treatment Plan Using Prescription OpioidsA32
Appendix 16 – Suggested Strategies for Tapering and WeaningA34

#### PREAMBLE

Protection of the public is the highest priority for the Medical Board of California (Board) in exercising its licensing, regulatory, and disciplinary functions. The Board recognizes that principles of high-quality medical practice and California law dictate that the people of California have access to appropriate, safe and effective pain management. The application of up-to-date knowledge and treatment modalities can help to restore function and thus improve the quality of life for patients who suffer from pain, particularly chronic pain.

In 1994, the Medical Board of California formally adopted a policy statement titled, "Prescribing Controlled Substances for Pain." This was used to provide guidance to physicians prescribing controlled substances. Several legislative changes since 1994 necessitated revising these guidelines; most recently in 2007.

In November 2011, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention declared prescription drug abuse to be a nationwide epidemic. Drug overdose is now the leading cause of accidental deaths, exceeding deaths due to motor vehicle accidents. A majority of those overdose deaths involved prescription drugs. The diversion of opioid medications to non-medical uses has also contributed to the increased number of deaths, although the problem is not limited to the aberrant, drug-seeking patient. Injuries are occurring among general patient populations, with some groups at high risk, (e.g., those with depression). Consequently, the Board called for revision of the guidelines to provide additional direction to physicians who prescribe controlled substances for pain.

These guidelines are intended to help physicians improve outcomes of patient care and to prevent overdose deaths due to opioid use. They particularly address the use of opioids in the long-term treatment of chronic pain. Opioid analgesics are widely accepted as appropriate and effective for alleviating moderate-to-severe acute pain, pain associated with cancer and persistent end-of-life pain <sup>1</sup> Although some of the recommendations cited in these guidelines might be appropriate for other types of pain, they are not meant for the treatment of patients in hospice or palliative care settings and are not in any way intended to limit treatment where improved function is not anticipated and pain relief is the primary goal. These guidelines underscore the extraordinary complexity in treating pain and how long-term opioid therapy should only be conducted in practice settings where careful evaluation, regular follow-up and close supervision are ensured. Since opioids are only one of many options to mitigate pain, and because prescribing opioids carries a substantial level of risk, these guidelines offer several nonopioid treatment alternatives. These guidelines are not intended to mandate the standard of care. The Board recognizes that deviations from these guidelines will occur and may be appropriate depending upon the unique needs of individual patients. Medicine is practiced one patient at a time and each patient has individual needs and vulnerabilities. Physicians are encouraged to document their rationale for each

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

prescribing decision. Physicians should understand that if one is ever the object of a quality of care complaint, peer expert review will be sought by the Board. The expert reviewer must consider the totality of circumstances surrounding the physician's prescribing practice (e.g., issues relating to access of care, paucity of referral sources, etc.) Specifically, experts are instructed to define the standard of care in terms of the level of skill, knowledge and care in diagnosis and treatment ordinarily possessed and exercised by other reasonably careful and prudent physicians in the same or similar circumstances at the time in question."

In an effort to provide physicians with as many sources of information as possible, these guidelines link to numerous references relating to prescribing. Additionally, numerous appendices are attached. The Board recognizes that some of the links/appendices may not be consistent with either each other or the main text of the guidelines. The intent for including as many sources of information as practicable is so that physicians can consider varying perspectives to arrive at the best patient-appropriate treatment decision. The Board does not endorse one treatment option over another and encourages physicians to undertake independent research on this continuously evolving subject matter.

#### UNDERSTANDING PAIN

The diagnosis and treatment of pain is integral to the practice of medicine. In order to cautiously prescribe opioids, physicians must understand the relevant pharmacologic and clinical issues in the use of such analgesics, and carefully structure a treatment plan that reflects the particular benefits and risks of opioid use for each individual patient. Such an approach should be employed in the care of every patient who receives long-term opioid therapy.

The California Medical Association<sup>2</sup> has defined and clarified key concepts relating to pain excerpted below:

*Pain:* The definition of pain proposed by the International Association for the Study of Pain is "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage." It has also been said that "Pain is what the patient says it is." Both definitions acknowledge the subjective nature of pain and are reminders that, with the rare exception of patients who intentionally deceive, a patient's self-report and pain behavior are likely the most reliable indicators of pain and pain severity. As a guide for clinical decision-making, however, both of these definitions are inadequate. In addition, it is important to remember that the subjectivity of pain, particularly when the cause is not apparent, can lead to the stigmatization of those with pain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

Acute and Chronic Pain: Traditionally, pain has been classified by its duration. In this perspective, "acute" pain is relatively short-duration, arises from obvious tissue injury, and usually fades with healing. "Chronic" pain, in contrast, has been variously defined as lasting longer than would be anticipated for the usual course of a given condition, or pain that lasts longer than arbitrary cut-off times, such as 3 or 6 months. Temporal pain labels, however, provide no information about the biological nature of the pain itself, which is often of critical importance.

*Nociceptive and Neuropathic Pain:* A more useful nomenclature classifies pain on the basis of its patho-physiological process. Nociceptive pain is caused by the activation of nociceptors, and is generally, though not always, short-lived and is associated with the presence of an underlying medical condition. It is a "normal" process; a physiological response to an injurious stimulus. Nociceptive pain is a symptom. Neuropathic pain, on the other hand, results either from an injury to the nervous system or from inadequately-treated nociceptive pain. It is an abnormal response to a stimulus; a pathological process. It is a neuro-biological disease. Neuropathic pain is caused by abnormal neuronal firing in the absence of active tissue damage. It may be continuous or episodic and varies widely in how it is perceived. Neuropathic pain is complex and can be difficult to diagnose and to manage because available treatment options are limited.

A key aspect of both nociceptive and neuropathic pain is the phenomenon of sensitization, which is a state of hyper excitability in either peripheral nociceptors or neurons in the central nervous system. Sensitization may lead to either hyperalgia or allodynia. Sensitization may arise from intense, repeated or prolonged stimulation of nociceptors, or from the influence of compounds released by the body in response to tissue damage or inflammation. Importantly, many patients – particularly those with persistent pain --- present with "compound" pain that has both nociceptive and neuropathic components, a situation which complicates assessment and treatment.

Differentiating between nociceptive and neuropathic pain is critical because the two respond differently to pain treatments. Neuropathic pain, for example, typically responds poorly to both opioid analgesics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory (NSAID) agents. Other classes of medications, such as anti-epileptics, antidepressants or local anesthetics, may provide more effective relief for neuropathic pain.

*Cancer and Non-Cancer Pain:* Pain associated with cancer is sometimes given a separate classification, although it is not distinct from a patho-physiological perspective. Cancer-related pain includes pain caused by the disease itself and/or painful diagnostic or therapeutic procedures [and the sequelae of those processes]. The treatment of cancer-related pain may be influenced by the life expectancy of the patient, by comorbidities and by the fact that such pain may be of exceptional severity and duration. A focus of recent attention by the public, regulators, legislators, and physicians has been chronic pain that is not associated with cancer. A key feature of such pain, which may be caused by conditions such as musculoskeletal injury, lower back trauma and dysfunctional wound healing, is that the severity of pain may not correspond well to identifiable levels of tissue damage.

*Tolerance, Dependence and Addiction:* Related to the nomenclature of pain itself is continuing confusion not only among the public, but also in the medical community, about terms used to describe the effects of drugs on the brain and on behavior. To help clarify and standardize understanding, the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM), the American Academy of Pain Medicine (AAPM) and the American Pain Society (APS) have recommended the following definitions:

*Tolerance:* A State of adaptation in which exposure to a drug induces changes that result in a diminution of one or more of the drugs' effects over time.

*Physical Dependence:* A state of adaptation that often includes tolerance and is manifested by a drug class-specific withdrawal syndrome that can be produced by abrupt cessation, rapid dose reduction, decreasing blood level of the drug and/or administration of an antagonist.

*Addiction:* A primary, chronic, neurobiological disease, with genetic, psychosocial and environmental factors influencing its development and manifestations. It is characterized by behaviors that include one or more of the following: impaired control over drug use, compulsive use, continued use despite harm and craving.

*Pain as an Illness:* Finally, it may be helpful to point out that pain can be regarded as an illness as well as a symptom or a disease. "Illness" defines the impact a disease has on an organism and is characterized by epiphenomena or co-morbidities with bio-psycho-social dimensions. Effective care of any illness, therefore, requires attention to all of these dimensions. Neuropathic pain, end-of-life pain and chronic pain should all be viewed as illnesses.

#### SPECIAL PATIENT POPULATIONS

All patients may experience pain. Below are treatment considerations for differing patient populations or scenarios. As previously addressed, these guidelines are intended to particularly address the use of opioids in the long-term treatment of chronic, non-cancer pain. However, since many of the recommendations cited in these guidelines might be appropriate for other types of pain, other scenarios are listed below to provide additional guidance in prescribing opioids, when appropriate.

#### Acute Pain<sup>3</sup>

Opioid medications should only be used for treatment of acute pain when the severity of the pain warrants that choice and after determining that other non-opioid pain medications or therapies likely will not provide adequate pain relief. When opioid medications are prescribed for treatment of acute pain, the number dispensed should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Utah Department of Health (Utah Clinical Guidelines on Prescribing Opioids for Treatment of Pain, 2009).

be for a short duration and no more than the number of doses needed based on the usual duration of pain severe enough to require opioids for that condition.

Long (and intermediate) duration-of-action opioids or extended release/long acting opioids (ER/LA) should not be used for treatment of acute pain, including post-operative pain, except in situations where monitoring and assessment for adverse effects can be conducted. Methadone is rarely, if ever, indicated for treatment of acute pain. The use of opioids should be re-evaluated carefully, including the potential for abuse, if persistence of pain suggests the need to continue opioids beyond the anticipated time period of acute pain treatment for that condition.

It is important to emphasize that numerous (but not all) recommendations cited in these guidelines <u>may not</u> be relevant for the physician treating a patient for acute pain. For example, a physician treating a patient who presents to an Emergency Department or primary care physician with a medical condition manifested by objective signs (e.g., a fractured ulna or kidney stones discernible with imaging studies) would not necessarily need to undertake an opioid trial, perform a psychological assessment, utilize a pain management agreement, confer with the Prescription Drug Monitoring Program database, order a drug toxicology screen, etc.

#### **Emergency Departments**

Treating patients in an emergency department (ED) or urgent care clinic presents unique challenges in that, oftentimes there is limited ability to procure adequate patient history and the primary physician is not available. Drug seeking patients may take advantage of this in order to secure controlled substances.

The American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP) Clinical Policy - <u>Critical Issues</u> in the Prescribing of Opioids for Adult Patients in the Emergency Department (Appendix <u>1</u>) - identifies acute low back pain as a common presenting complaint in the ED. Opioids are frequently prescribed, expected or requested for such presentations. Consequently, ACEP clinical policy recommends:

- (1) For the patient being discharged from the ED with acute low back pain, the emergency physician should ascertain whether non-opioid analgesics and non-pharmacologic therapies will be adequate for initial pain management.
- (2) Given a lack of demonstrated evidence of superior efficacy of either opioid or non-opioid analgesics and the individual and community risks associated with opioid use, misuse, and abuse, opioids should be reserved for more severe pain or pain refractory to other analgesics rather than routinely prescribed.
- (3) If opioids are indicated, the prescription should be for the lowest practical dose for a limited duration (e.g.,<1 week), and the prescriber should consider the patient's risk for opioid misuse, abuse, or diversion.

For patients presenting to the ED with an acute exacerbation of non-cancer chronic pain, ACEP recommends the following:

(1) Physicians should avoid the routine prescribing of outpatient opioids for a patient with an acute exacerbation of chronic non-cancer pain seen in the ED.

- (2) If opioids are prescribed on discharge, the prescription should be for the lowest practical dose for a limited duration (e.g., < 1 week), and the prescriber should consider the patient's risk for opioid misuse, abuse, or diversion.
- (3) The physician should, if practicable, honor existing patient-physician pain contracts/treatment agreements and consider past prescription patterns from information sources such as prescription drug monitoring programs.

ACEP recommends that the use of a state prescription monitoring program may help identify patients who are at high risk for prescription opioid diversion or doctor shopping.

#### End-of-Life Pain<sup>4</sup>

Pain management at the end of life seeks to improve or maintain a patient's overall quality of life in addition to relieving suffering. This focus is important because sometimes a patient may have priorities that compete with, or supersede, the relief of pain. For some patients, mental alertness sufficient to allow lucid interactions with loved ones may be more important than physical comfort. Optimal pain management, in such cases, may mean lower doses of an analgesic and the experience, by the patient, of higher levels of pain.

Fear of inducing severe or even fatal respiratory depression may lead to clinician<sup>5</sup> under-prescribing and reluctance by patients to take an opioid medication. Despite this fear, studies have revealed no correlation between opioid dose, timing of opioid administration and time of death in patients using opioids in the context of terminal illness. A consult with a specialist in palliative medicine in these situations may be advisable.

#### Cancer Pain

The California Medical Association writes that pain is one of the most common symptoms of cancer, as well as being one of the most-feared cancer symptoms. Opioid pain medications are the mainstay of cancer pain management and a trial of opioid therapy should be administered to all cancer patients with moderate or severe pain, regardless of the known or suspected pain mechanism. The American Academy of Pain Management advised the Board that some cancer survivors with moderate-tosevere pain benefit greatly from the use of non-opioid medications, and when these are effectively administered, opioids are unnecessary. Similarly, other treatments such as surgeries, radiation therapy, and other procedures may provide sufficient pain relief that opioids are not necessary.

Extended-release/long-acting (ER/LA) opioid formulations may lessen the inconvenience associated with the use of short-acting opioids. Patient-controlled analgesia using an ambulatory infusion device may provide optimal patient control and effective analgesia. The full range of adjuvant medications should be considered for patients with cancer pain, with the caveat that such patients are often on already

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The term "clinician" throughout the document means "physician."

complicated pharmacological regimens, which raises the risk of adverse reactions associated with polypharmacy.<sup>6</sup>

#### Older Adults

With appropriate precautions opioid therapy for elderly patients can be efficacious. It is important to begin with lower starting doses, slower titration, longer dosing intervals, and more frequent monitoring. Tapering of benzodiazepines is important to reduce the potential for respiratory depression.

For additional information, see Appendix 2.

#### Pediatric Patients

Extreme caution should be used in prescribing opioids for pediatric patients. A trial of opioid therapy may be considered with well-defined somatic or neuropathic pain conditions when non-opioid alternatives have failed or are unlikely to be effective for acute pain. Additionally, close monitoring and consultation should be undertaken.

For additional information, see Appendix 3.

#### Pregnant Women

Clinicians should encourage minimal or no use of opioids during pregnancy unless the potential benefits clearly outweigh risks. Pregnant patients taking long-term opioid therapy should be tapered to the lowest effective dose slowly enough to avoid withdrawal symptoms, and then therapy should be discontinued if possible.

Additional information on the appropriate use of opioids for pregnant patients is available: American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) committee opinion titled <u>Opioid Abuse, Dependence, and Addiction in Pregnancy</u>.

#### Patients Covered by Workers' Compensation<sup>7</sup>

This population of patients presents its own unique circumstances. Injured workers are generally sent to an occupational medicine facility for treatment. Ideally, the injured worker recovers and returns to work in full capacity. If recovery or healing does not occur as expected, early triage and appropriate, timely treatment is essential to restore function and facilitate a return to work.

The use of opioids in this population of patients can be problematic. Some evidence suggests that early treatment with opioids may actually delay recovery and a return to work. Conflicts of motivation may also exist in patients on workers' compensation, such as when a person may not want to return to an unsatisfying, difficult or hazardous job. Clinicians are advised to apply the same careful methods of assessment, creation of treatment plans and monitoring used for other pain patients but with the added consideration of the psycho-social dynamics inherent in the workers' compensation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

system. Injured workers should be afforded the full range of treatment options that are appropriate for the given condition causing the disability and impairment.

For additional information on treating patients covered by Workers' Compensation please see <u>State of California Division of Workers' Compensation Guideline for the Use of Opioids to Treat Work-Related Injuries</u>.

#### Patients with History of Substance Use Disorder<sup>8</sup>

Use of opioids for patients with a history of substance use disorder is challenging because such patients are more vulnerable to drug misuse, abuse and addiction. In patients who are actively using illicit drugs, the potential benefits of opioid therapy are likely to be outweighed by potential risks, and such therapy should not be prescribed outside of highly controlled settings (such as an opioid treatment program with directly observed therapy). In other patients, the potential benefits of opioid therapy may outweigh potential risks. Although evidence is lacking on best methods for managing such patients, potential risks may be minimized by more frequent and intense monitoring compared with lower risk patients, authorization of limited prescription quantities and consultation or co-management with a specialist in addiction medicine. Clinicians should use the [Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES) Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (PDMP)] CURES PDMP to identify patients who obtain drugs from multiple sources.

If either the patient's medical history, self-report or scores on screening assessment tools such as the <u>Opioid Risk Tool</u> suggest an above-average risk of substance abuse, clinicians should consider the following steps in proceeding with a pain management strategy:

- Exhaust all non-opioid pain management methodologies prior to considering opioid therapy;
- Consult with a specialist in addiction medicine;
- Create a written treatment plan and patient agreement and review carefully with the patient, obtaining their signed informed consent;
- Closely monitor and assess pain, functioning and aberrant behaviors;
- Regularly check with a PDMP for compliance with prescribed amounts of opioids (using cross-state PDMP systems whenever they are available);
- While the patient is on long-term opioid therapy, implement urine drug testing, if possible;
- If misuse or abuse of opioid analgesics is suspected or confirmed, initiate a nonconfrontational in-person meeting, use a non-judgmental approach to asking questions, present options for referral, opioid taper/discontinuation or switching to non-opioid treatments, and avoid "abandoning" the patient or abruptly stopping opioid prescriptions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

#### Psychiatric Patients

A higher risk for deleterious side effects exists for patients with psychiatric diagnoses who are receiving opioid treatment. Opioids should only be prescribed for well-defined somatic or neuropathic pain conditions. Physicians should titrate slowly, closely monitor the patient and seek consultation from the appropriate specialist.

#### Patients Prescribed Benzodiazepines

Patients taking benzodiazepines and opioids are at an increased risk for respiratory depression, particularly elderly patients. Physicians should consider a trial of benzodiazepine tapering in patients concomitantly using opioids or other respiratory depressant medications. If a trial of tapering is not indicated or is unsuccessful, opioids should be titrated more slowly and at lower doses. For additional information, see <u>Benzodiazepines: How They Work and How to Withdraw</u>.

# Patients Prescribed Methadone or Buprenorphine for Treatment of a Substance Use Disorder

Patients prescribed methadone or buprenorphine for treatment of a substance use disorder may need relief of acute and/or chronic pain, beyond that provided by their maintenance medication. For more information on pain relief for persons on methadone or buprenorphine, see <u>Acute Pain Management for Patients Receiving Maintenance</u> <u>Methadone or Buprenorphine Therapy</u>.

## PATIENT EVALUATION AND RISK STRATIFICATION

When considering long-term use of opioids for chronic, non-cancer pain, given the potential risks of opioid analgesics, careful and thorough patient assessment is critical. Risk stratification is one of the most important things a physician can do to mitigate potentially adverse consequences of opioid prescribing. The nature and extent of the clinical assessment depends on the type of pain and the context in which it occurs. This includes but is not limited to:

- Completing a medical history, and physical examination (<u>Appendix 4</u>).
- Performing a psychological evaluation.
  - Psychological assessment should include risk of addictive disorders.
     Screening tools that can be considered for use include:
    - CAGE-AID (<u>Appendix 5</u>);
    - PHQ-9 (<u>Appendix 6</u>);
    - Opioid Risk Tool (ORT) (<u>Appendix 7</u>); and
    - SOAPP®-R (Appendix 8)
    - Note: Although the above-listed assessment tools are wellestablished with proven effectiveness, physicians must be aware that seasoned diverters know the right answers to these tools so they look "normal."
- Establishing a diagnosis and medical necessity (review past medical records, laboratory studies, imaging studies, etc. and order new ones, if necessary or if

previous studies are outdated). Screening tools that can be considered for use include:

- Pain Intensity and Interference (pain scale) (Appendix 9)
- o Sheehan Disability Scale (Appendix 10; permission for use pending)
- Exploring non-opioid therapeutic options.
- Opioid medications may not be the appropriate first line of treatment for a patient with chronic pain. Other measures, such as non-opioid analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS), antidepressants, antiepileptic drugs, and non-pharmacologic therapies (e.g., physical therapy), should be tried and the outcomes of those therapies documented first. Opioid therapy should be considered only when other potentially safer and more effective therapies have proven inadequate. Resources that can be consulted include:
  - o <u>Therapeutic Options for Pain Management</u> (Appendix 11)
  - <u>Non-Opioid Pain Management Tool</u> (<u>Appendix 12</u>; permission for use pending)
- Evaluating both potential benefits and potential risks of opioid therapy.
- Being cognizant of aberrant or drug seeking behaviors.
- As a universal precaution, undertaking urine drug testing.
- Reviewing the Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (PDMP) report for the patient [<u>Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System</u> (<u>CURES</u>)]. This allows a physician to check to see if a patient is receiving controlled substances from other prescribers in California (assuming the prescription is being filled at a California pharmacy).

## **CONSULTATION**

The treating physician should seek a consultation with, or refer the patient to, a pain, psychiatry, or an addiction or mental health specialist as needed. For example, a patient who has a history of substance use disorder or a co-occurring mental health disorder may require specialized assessment and treatment, if available.

Physicians who prescribe long-term opioid therapy should be familiar with treatment options for opioid addiction (including those available in licensed opioid treatment programs [OTPs]) and those offered by an appropriately credentialed and experienced physician through office-based opioid treatment [OBOT]), so as to make appropriate referrals when needed.

## TREATMENT PLAN AND OBJECTIVES

When considering long-term use of opioids, for chronic, non-cancer pain, the physician and the patient should develop treatment goals together. The goals of pain treatment include reasonably attainable improvement in pain and function; improvement in painassociated symptoms such as sleep disturbance, depression, and anxiety; and avoidance of unnecessary or excessive use of medications. Pain relief is important, but it is difficult to measure objectively. Therefore, it cannot be the primary indicator to assess the success of the treatment. Effective pain relief improves functioning, whereas addiction decreases functionality. Effective means of achieving these goals vary widely, depending on the type and causes of the patient's pain, other concurrent issues, and the preferences of the physician and the patient.

The treatment plan and goals should be established as early as possible in the treatment process and revisited regularly, so as to provide clear-cut, individualized objectives to guide the choice of therapies. The treatment plan should contain information supporting the selection of therapies, both pharmacologic (including medications other than opioids) and non-pharmacologic. It also should specify measurable goals and objectives that will be used to evaluate treatment progress, such as relief of pain and improved physical and psychosocial function.

The plan should document any further diagnostic evaluations, consultations or referrals, or additional therapies that have been considered. The treatment plan should also include an "exit strategy" for discontinuing opioid therapy in the event the tapering or termination of opioid therapy becomes necessary.

#### PATIENT CONSENT

When considering long-term or chronic use of opioids, or in other medically appropriate situations, the physician should discuss the risks and benefits of the treatment plan with the patient, with persons designated by the patient, or with the patient's conservator if the patient is without medical decision-making capacity. If opioids are prescribed, the patient (and possibly family members, if appropriate) should be counseled on safe ways to store and dispose of medications. For convenience, patient consent and a pain management contract can be combined into one document.

Patient consent typically addresses:

- The potential risks and anticipated benefits of long-term opioid therapy.
- Potential side effects (both short-and long-term) of the medication, such as nausea, opioid-induced constipation, decreased libido, sexual dysfunction, hypogonadism with secondary osteoporosis (Gegmann et al., 2008) and cognitive impairment.
- The likelihood that some medications will cause tolerance and physical dependence to develop.
- The risk of drug interactions and over-sedation.
- The risk of respiratory depression.
- The risk of impaired motor skills (affecting driving and other tasks).
- The risk of opioid misuse, dependence, addiction, and overdose.
- The limited evidence as to the benefit of long-term opioid therapy.

#### PAIN MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

Use of a pain management agreement is recommended for patients:

• On short-acting opioids at the time of third visit within two months;

- On long-acting opioids; or
- Expected to require more than three months of opioids.

Pain management agreements typically outline the joint responsibilities of the physician and the patient and should include:

- The physician's prescribing policies and expectations, including the number and frequency of prescription refills, as well as the physician's policy on early refills and replacement of lost or stolen medications.
- Specific reasons for which drug therapy may be changed or discontinued (including violation of the policies and agreements spelled out in the treatment agreement).
- The patient's responsibility for safe medication use (e.g., by not using more medication than prescribed or using the opioid in combination with alcohol or other substances; storing medications in a secure location; and safe disposal of any unused medication to prevent misuse by other household members).
- The patient's agreement to share information with family members and other close contacts on how to recognize and respond to an opiate overdose, including administering an opioid antagonist, such as naloxone, if necessary. (<u>Appendix</u> <u>13</u>)
- The patient's responsibility to obtain his or her prescribed opioids from only one physician or practice and one pharmacy.
- The patient's agreement to periodic drug testing (blood, urine, hair, or saliva).
- The physician's responsibility to be available or to have a covering physician available to care for unforeseen problems and to prescribe scheduled refills, if appropriate and in accordance with the patient's pain management agreement.

Samples of pain management agreements:

- Patient Pain Medication Agreement and Consent (Appendix 14)
- Treatment Plan Using Prescription Opioids (Appendix 15)

## COUNSELING PATIENTS ON OVERDOSE RISK AND RESPONSE

Empirical evidence has shown that lay persons can be trained to recognize the signs of an opiate overdose and to safely administer naloxone, an opiate antagonist. Programs that have trained lay persons in naloxone administration have reported more than 10,000 overdose reversals.<sup>9</sup>

It is important to educate patients and family/caregivers about the danger signs of respiratory depression. Everyone in the household should know to summon medical help immediately if a person demonstrates any of the following signs while on opioids:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Community-based opioid overdose prevention programs providing naloxone-United States, 2010. Morbidity and mortality weekly report, February 17, 2012 / 61(06);101-105

- Snoring heavily and cannot be awakened.
- Periods of ataxic (irregular) or other sleep-disordered breathing.
- Having trouble breathing.
- Exhibiting extreme drowsiness and slow breathing.
- Having slow, shallow breathing with little chest movement or no breathing.
- Having an increased or decreased heartbeat.
- Feeling faint, very dizzy, confused or has heart palpitations.
- Blue skin/lips
- Non-responsiveness to painful stimulation.

Effective January 1, 2015, California pharmacists will be able to furnish an opioid overdose reversal drug, naloxone to family members of patients at risk for overdose, those who might be in contact with an individual at risk for overdose, or anyone who requests the drug without a prescription.

<u>SAMHSA's Opiate Overdose Toolkit</u> and <u>Prescribe to Prevent</u> contain numerous documents relating to overdose prevention and management.

#### **INITIATING OPIOID TRIAL**

Safer alternative treatments should be considered before initiating opioid therapy for chronic pain. Opioid therapy should be presented to the patient as a therapeutic trial or test for a defined period of time (usually no more than 45 days) and with specific evaluation points. The *Long-Term Chronic Opioid Therapy Discontinuation Rates from the TROUP Study*<sup>10</sup> reveals that "[o]ver half of persons receiving 90 days of continuous opioid therapy remain on opioids years later. Factors most strongly associated with continuation were intermittent prior opioid exposure, daily opioid dose≥120 mg MED, and possible opioid misuse. Since high dose and opioid misuse have been shown to increase the risk of adverse outcomes, special caution is warranted when prescribing more than 90 days of opioid therapy in these patients."

The physician should explain that progress will be carefully monitored for both benefit and harm in terms of the effects of opioids on the patient's level of pain, function, and quality of life, as well as to identify any adverse events or risks to safety.

According to the California Medical Association<sup>11</sup>:

Oral administration, especially for the treatment of chronic pain, is generally preferred because it is convenient, flexible and associated with stable drug levels. Intravenous administration provides rapid pain relief and, along with rectal, sublingual and subcutaneous administration, may be useful in patients who cannot take medications by mouth. Continuous infusions produce consistent drug blood

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Journal of General Internal Medicine article (December 2011, Volume 26, Issue 12, pp 1450-1457).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

levels but are expensive, require frequent professional monitoring and may limit patient mobility.

Transdermal administration is a convenient alternate means of continuous drug delivery that does not involve needles or pumps. Patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) allows patients to self-administer pain medications and may be useful if analgesia is required for 12 hours or more and mobility is not required. Intrathecal delivery of opioids is a viable option for patients with chronic pain who have not responded to other treatment options, or for whom the required doses result in unacceptable side-effects. Patients with intrathecal delivery systems typically require ongoing ambulatory monitoring and supportive care.

Patients on a steady dose of an opioid medication may experience pain that breaks through the analgesic effects of the steady-state drug. Paper or electronic pain diaries may help patients track these breakthrough episodes and spot correlations between the episodes and variables in their lives. A short-acting opioid is typically prescribed for treatment by patients with breakthrough pain.

Continuation of opioid therapy after an appropriate trial should be based on outcomes such as: making progress toward functional goals; presence and nature of side effects; pain status; and a lack of evidence of medication misuse, abuse, or diversion. Patients with no, or modest, previous opioid exposure should be started at the lowest appropriate initial dosage of a short-acting opioid and titrated upward to decrease the risk of adverse effects. The selection of a starting dose and manner of titration are clinical decisions made on a case-by-case basis because of the many variables involved. Some patients, such as frail older persons or those with comorbidities, may require an even more cautious therapy initiation. Short-acting opioids are usually safer for initial therapy since they have a shorter half-life and may be associated with a lower risk of overdose from drug accumulation. The general approach is to "start low and go slow."

Since opioids are known in some circumstances to worsen pain (hyperalgesia), instances of ongoing pain may suggest opioid insensitivity (or an inadequate dose). Careful assessment must be undertaken. If hyperalgesia is suspected, a dose reduction, opioid rotation or tapering to cessation could be considered.

#### Dosing Recommendations For Opioid Naïve Patients

There is a plethora of data available regarding recommended dosages for various analgesics. Because this is continuously evolving, physicians are encouraged to review the Food and Drug Administration's website and other relevant information sources.

#### Morphine Equivalent Dose (MED)

There are differing opinions among reputable experts and organizations as to what MED should trigger a consultation. The Board recommends that physicians proceed cautiously (yellow flag warning) once the MED reaches 80 mg/day. Referral to an appropriate specialist should be considered when higher doses are contemplated.

There is no absolute safe ceiling dose of opioids, however, and caution and monitoring are appropriate for applications of these medications.

The patient should be seen more frequently while the treatment plan is being initiated and the opioid dose adjusted. As the patient is stabilized in the treatment regimen, follow-up visits may be scheduled less frequently.

#### **ONGOING PATIENT ASSESSMENT**

When a trial of an opioid medication is successful and the physician and patient decide to continue opioid therapy, regular review and monitoring should be undertaken for the duration of treatment.

Continuation, modification or termination of opioid therapy for pain should be contingent on the physician's evaluation of (1) evidence of the patient's progress toward treatment objectives and (2) the absence of substantial risks or adverse events, such as overdose or diversion. A satisfactory response to treatment would be indicated by a reduced level of pain, increased level of function, and/or improved quality of life. Validated brief assessment tools that measure pain and function, such as the three-question "<u>Pain,</u> <u>Enjoyment and General Activity</u>" (PEG) scale or other validated assessment tools, may be helpful and time effective.

Consider the 5-As method for chronic pain management assessment:

- Analgesia: the patient is experiencing a reduction in pain.
  Activity: the patient is demonstrating an improvement in level of function.
  Adverse: the patient is not experiencing side effects.
  Aberrance: the patient is complying with the pain management agreement and there are no signs of medication abuse or diversion.
- Affect: the patient's behavior and mood are appropriate.

"Opioid rotation," the switching from one opioid to another in order to better balance analgesia and side effects, may be used if pain relief is inadequate, if side effects are bothersome or unacceptable, or if an alternative route of administration is suggested. Opioid rotation must be done with great care, particularly when converting from an immediate-release formulation to an Extended Release (ER)/Long Acting (LA) product. Equianalgesic charts, conversion tables and calculators must be used cautiously with titration and appropriate monitoring. Patients may exhibit incomplete cross-tolerance to different types of opioids because of differences in the receptors or receptor sub-types to which different opioids bind, hence physicians may want to use initially lower-thancalculated doses of the switched-to opioid.

#### **COMPLIANCE MONITORING**

Physicians who prescribe opioids or other controlled substances for pain should ensure the provisions of a pain management agreement are being heeded. Strategies for monitoring compliance may include:

CURES Report

The CURES report can be useful in establishing whether or not an individual is receiving controlled substances from multiple prescribers. The CURES report should be requested frequently for patients who are being treated for pain as well as addiction.

• Drug Testing

A patient's report of medication use is not always reliable; therefore, drug testing can be an important monitoring tool.

Physicians need to be aware of the limitations of available tests (such as their limited sensitivity for many opioids) and take care to order tests appropriately. For example, when a drug test is ordered, it is important to specify that it include the opioid being prescribed. Because of the complexities involved in interpreting drug test results, it is advisable to confirm significant or unexpected results with the laboratory toxicologist or a clinical pathologist. Urine toxicology tests can be compromised by variability and limitations in obtaining specimens, custody of specimens, laboratory methodologies and interpreting laboratory data. Laboratories vary in their testing methodologies, thresholds and standards. Results from drug screens may involve diverse drug classes and interpreting them requires clinical understanding well beyond opioids.

"Variability may result from differences between laboratories. Some labs, for example, only report values above a certain preset threshold. So, a patient might have a measureable level of drug, but since it does not exceed the given threshold, it is reported as "negative" finding. This might lead the physician to suspect that a prescribed drug, which should be present at the time of testing, is absent." <sup>12</sup>

"Limitations to Urine Drug Testing (UDT): There is currently no way to tell from a urine drug test the exact amount of drug ingested or taken, when the last dose was taken, or the source of the drug. A recent systematic review of the use of drug treatment agreements and urine drug testing to discourage misuse when opioids are prescribed for chronic non-cancer pain, found weak, heterogeneous evidence that these strategies were associated with less misuse. Limited research did find that UDT was a valuable tool to detect use of non-prescribed drugs and confirm adherence to prescribed medications beyond that identified by

<sup>12</sup> Responsible Opioid Prescribing, A Clinician's Guide, Second Edition, 2012, Scott Fishman, M.D.; Federation of State Medical Boards (FSMB), FSMB Foundation, and University of Nebraska Medical Center.

patient self-report or impression of the treating physician."<sup>13</sup> "Consequently, additional testing, including quantitative blood levels of prescribed medications and other laboratory testing, may be deemed necessary to monitor and treat patients receiving chronic opioid treatment and is considered part of a medically necessary treatment and monitoring program."<sup>14</sup>

It is important to be aware of cost barriers related to a patient's ability to pay for the testing. There are numerous CLIA-waived office drug testing kits which are inexpensive and which physicians may wish to consider for use for initial drug testing, however unexpected results from office-based testing should be confirmed by the more-sensitive laboratory testing before the patient's plan of care is changed.

• Pill Counting

Periodic pill counting can be a useful strategy to confirm medication adherence and to minimize diversion (selling, sharing or giving away medications).

The physician must decide whether or not to revise or augment a pain management agreement and/or treatment plan if the patient's progress is unsatisfactory. If it is suspected that a patient may be abusing or diverting prescribed medications, or using "street" drugs, a careful re-assessment of the treatment plan must be undertaken. A patient's failure to adhere to a pain management agreement is not necessarily proof of abuse or diversion. Failure to comply may be the consequence of inadequate pain relief, confusion regarding the prescription, a language barrier or economic concerns. A physician should arrange for an in-person meeting in order to have a non-judgmental conversation to clarify his or her concerns. If abuse is confirmed, minimally, consultation with an addiction medicine specialist or mental health specialist trained in substance abuse disorders and/or referral to a substance use disorder treatment program that provides medication-assisted therapy (MAT) should be immediately facilitated. Physicians who prescribe long-term opioid therapy should be knowledgeable in the diagnosis of substance use disorders and able to distinguish such disorders from physical dependence—which is expected in chronic therapy with opioids and many sedatives.

Documented drug diversion or prescription forgery, obvious impairment, and abusive or assaultive behaviors usually require a firmer, immediate response. The degree to which the patient has breached the pain agreement and/or the presence of criminal activity should govern the physician's response. Although an immediate face-to-face meeting with the patient to re-evaluate the treatment plan may be appropriate, in some instances it may be necessary to taper opioid therapy and/or terminate the physician patient

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> State Of California Division Of Workers' Compensation Guideline For The Use Of Opioids To Treat Work-Related Injuries (Forum Posting, April 2014) Part D: Comparison Of Recommendations From Existing Opioid Guidelines.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> State Of California Division Of Workers' Compensation Guideline For The Use Of Opioids To Treat Work-Related Injuries (Forum Posting, April 2014) Part B Recommendations.

relationship. In situations where the patient has engaged in criminal behavior (e.g., prescription forgery or assaultive behaviors), the physician is strongly encouraged to contact the police/ Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA). Failing to respond can place the patient and others at significant risk of adverse consequences, including accidental overdose, suicide attempts, arrests and incarceration, or even death.

### **DISCONTINUING OPIOID THERAPY**

Discontinuation or tapering of opioid therapy may be required for many reasons and ideally, an "exit strategy" should be included in the treatment plan for all patients receiving opioids at the outset of treatment.<sup>15</sup> Reasons may include:

- Resolution or healing of the painful condition;
- Intolerable side effects;
- Failure to achieve anticipated pain relief or functional improvement (although ensure that this failure is not the result of inadequate treatment);
- Evidence of non-medical or inappropriate use;
- Failure to comply with monitoring, such as urine drug screening (although ensure that this failure is not the result of a cost issue);
- Failure to comply with pain management contract;
- Exhibition of drug-seeking behaviors (although ensure this behavior is not the result of inadequate treatment) or diversion, such as:
  - Selling prescription drugs;
  - Forging prescriptions;
  - Stealing or borrowing drugs;
  - Aggressive demand for opioids;
  - Injecting oral/topical opioids;
  - Unsanctioned use of opioids;
  - Unsanctioned dose escalation;
  - Concurrent use of illicit drugs;
  - Getting opioids from multiple prescribers and/or multiple pharmacies;
  - Recurring Emergency department visits for chronic pain management.

If opioid therapy is discontinued, the patient who has become physically dependent should be provided with a safely-structured tapering regimen. Opioid withdrawal symptoms are uncomfortable, but are generally not life threatening. Opioids can be stopped abruptly when the risks outweigh the benefits. This is not true for benzodiazepine withdrawals, which can be life threatening. Withdrawal can be managed either by the prescribing physician or by referring the patient to an addiction specialist. "Approaches to weaning range from a slow 10% reduction per week to a more aggressive 25 to 50% reduction every few days. In general, a slower taper will produce fewer unpleasant symptoms of withdrawal."<sup>16</sup> For strategies on tapering and weaning, see <u>Appendix 16</u>. The termination of opioid therapy should not mark the end

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Responsible Opioid Prescribing, A Clinician's Guide, Second Edition, 2012, Scott Fishman, M.D.; Federation of State Medical Boards (FSMB), FSMB Foundation, and University of Nebraska Medical Center.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

of treatment, which should continue with other modalities, either through direct care or referral to other health care specialists, as appropriate.

If complete termination of care is necessary (as opposed to termination of a specific treatment modality), physicians should treat the patient until the patient has had a reasonable time to find an alternative source of care, and ensure that the patient has adequate medications, if appropriate, to avoid unnecessary risk from withdrawal symptoms. Physicians can be held accountable for patient abandonment if medical care is discontinued without justification or adequate provision for subsequent care. If a patient is known to be abusing a medication, initiating a detoxification protocol may be appropriate. Consultation with an attorney and/or one's malpractice insurance carrier may be prudent in such cases. Physicians may want to also consult health plan contracts to ensure compliance. The Board provides guidance on how to terminate/sever the patient relationship.

If a patient is dismissed for not honoring treatment agreements, consider referral to <u>addiction resources</u>. This can also include a 12-step program.

#### MEDICAL RECORDS

Every physician must maintain adequate and accurate medical records. The content of a patient's medical record may vary considerably, depending on numerous factors. For a physician treating a patient with opioids for chronic, non-cancer pain, an adequate medical record includes, but is not limited to, the documentation of:

- the patient's medical history;
- results of the physical examination and all laboratory tests ordered by the physician;
- patient consent;
- pain management agreement;
- results of the risk assessment, including results of any screening instruments used;
- description of the treatments provided, including all medications prescribed or administered (including the date, type, dose and quantity);
- instructions to the patient, including discussions of risks and benefits with the patient and any significant others;
- results of ongoing monitoring of patient progress (or lack of progress) in terms of pain management and functional improvement;
- notes on evaluations by and consultations with specialists;
- any other information used to support the initiation, continuation, revision, or termination of treatment and the steps taken in response to any aberrant medication use behaviors (these may include actual copies of, or references to, medical records of past hospitalizations or treatments by other providers);
- authorization for release of information to other treatment providers as appropriate and/or legally required; and
- results of CURES data searches.

The medical record should include all prescription orders for opioid analgesics and other controlled substances, whether written, telephoned or electronic. In addition, written instructions for the use of all medications should be given to the patient and documented in the record. The name, telephone number, and address of the patient's pharmacy also should be recorded to facilitate contact as needed, if the pharmacy that the patient will use is known. Records should be up-to-date and maintained in an accessible manner so as to be readily available for review.

Good records demonstrate that a service was provided to the patient and establish that the service provided was medically necessary. Even if the outcome is less than optimal, thorough records protect the physician as well as the patient.

#### SUPERVISING ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONALS

Physicians who supervise physician assistants or nurse practitioners who prescribe opioids should be aware of the specific regulations and requirements.

### COMPLIANCE WITH CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES LAWS

California laws:

- > California laws regarding controlled substances
- Guide to the Laws Governing the Practice of Medicine

Federal laws:

> Title 21 United States Code (USC) Controlled Substances Act

Other information:

Pharmacist corresponding responsibilities

# Appendix 1 - Clinical Policy: Critical Issues in the Prescribing of Opioids for Adult Patients in the ED

Please see pages BRD 16-59 to BRD 16-85.

#### Appendix 2 - Older Adults

#### Older Adults<sup>17</sup>

The prevalence of pain among older adults has been estimated between 25% and 50%. The prevalence of pain in nursing homes is even higher. Unfortunately, managing pain in older adults is challenging due to: underreporting of symptoms; presence of multiple medical conditions; polypharmacy; declines in liver and kidney function; problems with communication, mobility and safety; and cognitive and functional decline in general.

Acetaminophen is considered the drug of choice for mild-to-moderate pain in older adults because it lacks the gastrointestinal, bleeding, renal toxicities, and cognitive side-effects that have been observed with NSAIDs in older adults (although acetaminophen may pose a risk of liver damage). Opioids must be used with particular caution and clinicians should "start low, go slow" with initial doses and subsequent titration. Clinicians should consult the <u>American Geriatrics Society Updated Beers</u> <u>Criteria for Potentially Inappropriate Medication Use in Older Adults</u> for further information on the many medications that may not be recommended.

The various challenges of pain management in older adults, only sketched here, suggest that early referral and/or consultation with geriatric specialists or pain specialists may be advisable.

<sup>17</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

#### **Appendix 3 - Pediatric Patients**

#### Pediatric Patients<sup>18</sup>

Children of all ages deserve compassionate and effective pain treatment. In fact, due to their more robust inflammatory response and immature central inhibitory influences, infants and young children actually may experience greater pain sensations and pain-related distress than adults. Effective pain management in the pediatric population is critical since children and adolescents experience a variety of acute and chronic pain conditions associated with common childhood illnesses and injuries, as well as some painful chronic diseases that typically emerge in childhood such as sickle cell anemia and cystic fibrosis.

The same basic principles of appropriate pain management for adults apply to children and teens, which means that opioids have a place in the treatment armamentarium. Developmental differences, however, can make opioid dosing challenging, especially in the first several months of life. In the first week of a newborn's life, for example, the elimination half-life of morphine is more than twice as long as that in older children and adults, as a result of delayed clearance. For older children, dosing must be adjusted for body weight.

Although a thorough discussion of this topic is not possible in this document, the following are summary recommendations for pain management in children and teens from the American Pain Society and the American Academy of Pediatrics:

- Provide a calm environment for procedures that reduce distress-producing stimulation;
- Use age-appropriate pain assessment tools and techniques;
- Anticipate predictable painful experiences, intervene and monitor accordingly;
- Use a multimodal approach (pharmacologic, cognitive, behavioral and physical) to pain management and use a multidisciplinary approach when possible;
- Involve families and tailor interventions to the individual child; and
- Advocate for the effective use of pain medication for children to ensure compassionate and competent management of their pain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy, March 2014).

#### Appendix 4 - Patient Evaluation and Risk Stratification

Patient Evaluation and Risk Stratification<sup>19</sup>

The medical record should document the presence of one or more recognized medical indications for prescribing an opioid analgesic and reflect an appropriately detailed patient evaluation. Such an evaluation should be completed before a decision is made as to whether to prescribe an opioid analgesic.

The nature and extent of the evaluation depends on the type of pain and the context in which it occurs. For example, meaningful assessment of chronic pain, including pain related to cancer or non-cancer origins, usually demands a more detailed evaluation than an assessment of acute pain. Assessment of the patient's pain typically would include the nature and intensity of the pain, past and current treatments for the pain, any underlying or co-occurring disorders and conditions, and the effect of the pain on the patient's physical and psychological functioning.

For every patient, the initial work-up should include a systems review and relevant physical examination, as well as laboratory investigations as indicated. Such investigations help the physician address not only the nature and intensity of the pain, but also its secondary manifestations, such as its effects on the patient's sleep, mood, work, relationships, valued recreational activities, and alcohol and drug use.

Social and vocational assessment is useful in identifying supports and obstacles to treatment and rehabilitation; for example: Does the patient have good social supports, housing, and meaningful work? Is the home environment stressful or nurturing?.

Assessment of the patient's personal and family history of alcohol or drug abuse and relative risk for medication misuse or abuse also should be part of the initial evaluation, and ideally should be completed prior to a decision as to whether to prescribe opioid analgesics. This can be done through a careful clinical interview, which also should inquire into any history of physical, emotional or sexual abuse, because those are risk factors for substance misuse. Use of a validated screening tool (such as the Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain [SOAPP-R] or the Opioid Risk Tool [ORT]), or other validated screening tools, can save time in collecting and evaluating the information and determining the patient's level of risk.

All patients should be screened for depression and other mental health disorders, as part of risk evaluation. Patients with untreated depression and other mental health problems are at increased risk for misuse or abuse of controlled medications, including addiction, as well as overdose.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Federation of State Medical Boards - Model Policy on the Use of Opioid Analgesics in the Treatment of Chronic Pain, July 2013.

Patients who have a history of substance use disorder (including alcohol) are at elevated risk for failure of opioid analgesic therapy to achieve the goals of improved comfort and function, and also are at high risk for experiencing harm from this therapy, since exposure to addictive substances often is a powerful trigger of relapse. Therefore, treatment of a patient who has a history of substance use disorder should, if possible, involve consultation with an addiction specialist before opioid therapy is initiated (and follow-up as needed). Patients who have an active substance use disorder should not receive opioid therapy until they are established in a treatment/recovery program or alternatives are established such as co-management with an addiction professional. Physicians who treat patients with chronic pain should be encouraged to also be knowledgeable about the treatment of addiction, including the role of replacement agonists such as methadone and buprenorphine. For some physicians, there may be advantages to becoming eligible to treat addiction using office-based buprenorphine treatment.

Information provided by the patient is a necessary but insufficient part of the evaluation process. Reports of previous evaluations and treatments should be confirmed by obtaining records from other providers, if possible. Patients have occasionally provided fraudulent records, so if there is any reason to question the truthfulness of a patient's report, it is best to request records directly from the other providers.

If possible, the patient evaluation should include information from family members and/or significant others. Where available, the state prescription drug monitoring program (PDMP) should be consulted to determine whether the patient is receiving prescriptions from any other physicians, and the results obtained from the PDMP should be documented in the patient record.

In dealing with a patient who is taking opioids prescribed by another physician particularly a patient on high doses—the evaluation and risk stratification assume even greater importance. With all patients, the physician's decision as to whether to prescribe opioid analgesics should reflect the totality of the information collected, as well as the physician's own knowledge and comfort level in prescribing such medications and the resources for patient support that are available in the community.

#### Appendix 5 - CAGE-AID

#### **CAGE-AID** Questionnaire

#### CAGE-AID Questionnaire

Patient Name

Date of Visit

When thinking about drug use, include illegal drug use and the use of prescription drug other than prescribed.

Questions:	YES	NO
<ol> <li>Have you ever felt that you ought to cut down on your drinking or drug use?</li> </ol>		
2. Have people annoyed you by criticizing your drinking or drug use?		
3. Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking or drug use?		
4. Have you ever had a drink or used drugs first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or to get rid of a hangover?	Ľ	

#### Scoring

Regard one or more positive responses to the CAGE-AID as a positive screen.

**Psychometric Properties** 

The CAGE-AID exhibited:	Sensitivity	Specificity
One or more Yes responses	0.79	0.77
Two or more Yes responses	0.70	0.85

(Brown 1995)

### Appendix 6 - PHQ-9 Nine Symptom Checklist

# PHQ-9 — Nine Symptom Checklist

Pa	tie	nt Name		Date	
1.	Or pr	ver the last 2 oblems? Rea	weeks, how often ad each item caref	have you been bothered by a ully, and circle your response	any of the following
	a.	Little intere Not at all	st or pleasure in d Several days	oing things More than half the days	Nearly every day
	b.	Feeling dow Not at all	vn, depressed, or h Several days	opeless More than half the days	Nearly every day
	c.	Trouble fall Not at all	ing asleep, stayin Several days	g asleep, or sleeping too muc More than half the days	h Nearly every day
	d.	Feeling tire Not at all	d or having little e Several days	mergy More than half the days	Nearly every day
	e.	Poor appetit	te or overeating Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
	f,	Feeling bad let yourself	about yourself, fe or your family do	eeling that you are a failure, own	or feeling that you have
	g.	Trouble con television	several days	ngs such as reading the newsp	hearly every day
		Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
	h.	Moving or s fidgety or re	peaking so slowly estless that you ha	y that other people could hav ve been moving around a lot	e noticed. Or being so more than usual
		Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
	i.	Thinking the some way	at you would be b	etter off dead or that you wa	nt to hurt yourself in
		Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
2.	If pr wi	you checked oblems made ith other peop	off any problem of it for you to do y ble?	on this questionnaire so far, h our work, take care of things	ow difficult have these at home, or get along

Not Difficult at All Somewhat Difficult Very Difficult Extremely Difficult

Copyright held by Pfizer Inc, but may be photocopied ad libitum

May be printed without permission

# PHQ-9 — Scoring Tally Sheet

**Patient Name** 

Date

1. Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems? Read each item carefully, and circle your response.

	Not	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
	0	1	2	3
a. Little interest or pleasure in doing things				
b. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless				
<li>c. Trouble falling asleep, staying asleep, or sleeping too much</li>				
d. Feeling tired or having little energy				
e. Poor appetite or overeating				
<ol> <li>Feeling bad about yourself, feeling that you are a failure, or feeling that you have let yourself or your family down</li> </ol>				
g. Trouble concentrating on things such as reading the newspaper or watching television				
h. Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual				
<ol> <li>Thinking that you would be better off dead or that you want to hurt yourself in some way</li> </ol>				
Totals	-			

2. If you checked off any problem on this questionnaire so far, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?

Not Difficult At All	Somewhat Difficult	Very Difficult	Extremely Difficult
0	1	2	3

Copyright held by Pfizer Inc, but may be photocopied ad libitum

May be printed without permission

# How to Score PHQ-9

#### Scoring Method For Diagnosis

#### Major Depressive Syndrome is suggested if:

- · Of the 9 items, 5 or more are circled as at least "More than half the days"
- Either item 1a or 1b is positive, that is, at least "More than half the days"

#### Minor Depressive Syndrome is suggested if:

- Of the 9 items, b, c, or d are circled as at least "More than half the days"
- Either item 1a or 1b is positive, that is, at least "More than half the days"

Scoring Method For Planning And Monitoring

Treatment

#### Question One

 To score the first question, tally each response by the number value of each response:

Not at all = 0

Several days = 1

More than half the days = 2

Nearly every day = 3

- Add the numbers together to total the score.
- · Interpret the score by using the guide listed below:

Score	Action
⊴4	The score suggests the patient may not need depression treatment.
> 5-14	Physician uses clinical judgment about treatment, based on patient's duration of symptoms and functional impairment.
<u>&gt;</u> 15	Warrants treatment for depression, using antidepressant, psychotherapy and/or a combination of treatment

#### **Question Two**

In question two the patient responses can be one of four: not difficult at all, somewhat difficult, very difficult, extremely difficult. The last two responses suggest that the patient's functionality is impaired. After treatment begins, the functional status is again measured to see if the patient is improving.

Copyright held by Pfizer Inc, but may be photocopied ad libitum

How to Score PHQ-9

## Appendix 7 - Opioid Risk Tool (ORT)

Date	
Patient Name	

### OPIOID RISK TOOL

		Mark box that	each applies	Item Score If Female	Item Score If Male
1. Family History of Substance Abuse	Alcohol	1	1	1	3
	Illegal Drugs	Ĩ	1	2	3
	Prescription Drugs	s į	j	4	4
2. Personal History of Substance Abus	se Alcohol	I	1	3	3
	Illegal Drugs	ĩ	i	4	4
	Prescription Drugs	s į	j	5	5
3. Age (Mark box if 16 -45)		l	1	1	1
4. History of Preadolescent Sexual Ab	ouse	ſ	]	3	0
5. Psychological Disease	Attention Deficit Disorder Obsessive Compu Disorder Bipolar Schizophrenia	[ Isive	1	2	2
	Depression	l	]	1	1
TOTAL		I	1		
Total Score Risk Category L	ow Risk 0 – 3 Mo	derate	Risk 4	-7	High Risk >8

#### Appendix 8 - SOAPP®-R

#### Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain- Revised (SOAPP<sup>®</sup>-R)

The Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain- Revised (SOAPP<sup>®</sup>-R) is a tool for clinicians to help determine how much monitoring a patient on long-term opioid therapy might require. This is an updated and revised version of SOAPP V.1 released in 2003.

Physicians remain reluctant to prescribe opioid medication because of concerns about addiction, misuse, and other aberrant medication-related behaviors, as well as liability and censure concerns. Despite recent findings suggesting that most patients are able to successfully remain on long-term opioid therapy without significant problems, physicians often express a lack of confidence in their ability to distinguish patients likely to have few problems on long-term opioid therapy from those requiring more monitoring.

SOAPP-R is a quick and easy-to-use questionnaire designed to help providers evaluate the patients' relative risk for developing problems when placed on long-term opioid therapy. SOAPP-R is:

- A brief paper and pencil questionnaire
- Developed based on expert consensus regarding important concepts likely to predict which patients will require more or less monitoring on long-term opioid therapy (content and face valid).
- Validated with 500 chronic pain patients
- Simple to score
- 24 items
- <10 minutes to complete</li>
- Ideal for documenting decisions about the level of monitoring planned for a
  particular patient or justifying referrals to specialty pain clinic.
- The SOAPP-R is for clinician use only. The tool is not meant for commercial distribution.

 The SOAPP-R is NOT a lie detector. Patients determined to misrepresent themselves will still do so. Other clinical information should be used with SOAPP-R scores to decide on a particular patient's treatment.

- The SOAPP-R is NOT intended for all patients. The SOAPP-R should be completed by chronic pain patients being considered for opioid therapy.
- It is important to remember that all chronic pain patients deserve treatment of their pain. Providers who are not comfortable treating certain patients should refer those patients to a specialist.

©2014 Inflexxion, Inc. Permission granted solely for use in published format by individual practitioners in clinical practice. No other uses or alterations are authorized or permitted by copyright holder. Permissions questions: <u>PainEDU@inflexxion.com</u>. The SOAPP<sup>®</sup>-R was developed with a grant from the National Institutes of Health and an educational grant from Endo Pharmaceuticals.



#### SOAPP®-R

The following are some questions given to patients who are on or being considered for medication for their pain. Please answer each question as honestly as possible. There are no right or wrong answers.

	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very Often
	0	1	2	3	4
1. How often do you have mood swings?	0	9	0	0	0
<ol><li>How often have you felt a need for higher doses of medication to treat your pain?</li></ol>	0	0	0	0	0
<ol><li>How often have you felt impatient with your doctors?</li></ol>	0	0	0	0	0
4. How often have you felt that things are just too overwhelming that you can't handle them?	0	0	0	0	0
5. How often is there tension in the home?	0	0	0	0	0
6. How often have you counted pain pills to see how many are remaining?	0	0	0	0	0
<ol><li>How often have you been concerned that people will judge you for taking pain medication?</li></ol>	0	0	0	0	٥
8. How often do you feel bored?	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>How often have you taken more pain medication than you were supposed to?</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
10. How often have you worried about being left alone?	0	0	0	0	٥
11. How often have you felt a craving for medication?	0	0	0	0	0
12. How often have others expressed concern over your use of medication?	0	0	0	0	0

©2014 Inflexxion, Inc. Permission granted solely for use in published format by individual practitioners in clinical practice. No other uses or alterations are authorized or permitted by copyright holder. Permissions questions: <u>PainEDU@inflexxion.com</u>. The SOAPP<sup>®</sup>-R was developed with a grant from the National Institutes of Health and an educational grant from Endo Pharmaceuticals.


	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very Often
	0	1	2	3	4
13. How often have any of your close friends had a problem with alcohol or drugs?	0	0	0	0	0
14. How often have others told you that you had a bad temper?	6	0	10	0	0
15. How often have you felt consumed by the need to get pain medication?	0	•	0	0	0
16. How often have you run out of pain medication early?	ý	9	0	0	0
17. How often have others kept you from getting what you deserve?	•	0	0	0	0
18. How often, in your lifetime, have you had legal problems or been arrested?	0	0	0	0	0
19. How often have you attended an AA or NA meeting?	0	0	0	0	0
20. How often have you been in an argument that was so out of control that someone got hurt?	0	0	٥	0	0
21. How often have you been sexually abused?	0	0	0	0	0
22. How often have others suggested that you have a drug or alcohol problem?	0	0	0	0	0
23. How often have you had to borrow pain medications from your family or friends?	0	0	0	0	0
24. How often have you been treated for an alcohol or drug problem?	0	0	0	0	0

Please include any additional information you wish about the above answers. Thank you.



## Scoring Instructions for the SOAPP®-R

All 24 questions contained in the SOAPP®-R have been empirically identified as predicting aberrant medication-related behavior six months after initial testing.

To score the SOAPP, add the ratings of all the questions. A score of 18 or higher is considered positive.

Sum of Questions	SOAPP-R Indication
> or = 18	+
< 18	

What does the Cutoff Score Mean?

10

For any screening test, the results depend on what cutoff score is chosen. A score that is good at detecting patients at-risk will necessarily include a number of patients that are not really at risk. A score that is good at identifying those at low risk will, in turn, miss a number of patients at risk. A screening measure like the SOAPP-R generally endeavors to minimize the chances of missing high-risk patients. This means that patients who are truly at low risk may still get a score above the cutoff. The table below presents several statistics that describe how effective the SOAPP-R is at different cutoff values. These values suggest that the SOAPP-R is a sensitive test. This confirms that the SOAPP-R is better at identifying who is at high risk than identifying who is at low risk. Clinically, a score of 18 or higher will identify 81% of those who actually turn out to be at high risk. The Negative Predictive Values for a cutoff score of 18 is .87, which means that most people who have a negative SOAPP-R are likely at low-risk. Finally, the Positive likelihood ratio suggests that a positive SOAPP-R score (at a cutoff of 18) is 2.5 times (2.53 times) as likely to come from someone who is actually at high risk (note that, of these statistics, the likelihood ratio is least affected by prevalence rates). All this implies that by using a cutoff score of 18 will ensure that the provider is least likely to miss someone who is really at high risk. However, one should remember that a low SOAPP-R score suggests the patient is very likely at low-risk, while a high SOAPP-R score will contain a larger percentage of false positives (about 30%); at the same time retaining a large percentage of true positives. This could be improved, so that a positive score has a lower false positive rate, but only at the risk of missing more of those who actually do show aberrant behavior.

SOAPP-R Cutoff Score	Sensitivity	Specificity	Positive Predictive Value	Negative Predictive Value	Positive Likelihood Ratio	Negative Likelihood Ratio
Score 17 or above	.83	.65	.56	.88	2.38	.26
Score 18 or above	.81	.68	.57	.87	2.53	.29
Score 19 or above	.77	.75	.62	.86	3.03	.31



How does the SOAPP-R help determine appropriate treatment? The SOAPP-R should only be one step in the assessment process to determine which patients are high-risk for opioid misuse. The following discussion examines the assessment and treatment options for chronic pain patients who are at risk (high risk or medium risk) and those who are likely not at risk.

Who is at a high risk for opioid misuse? (SOAPP-R score = 22 or greater\*)

Patients in this category are judged to be at a high risk for opioid misuse. These patients have indicated a history of behaviors or beliefs that are thought to place them at a higher risk for opioid misuse. Some examples of these behaviors or beliefs include a current or recent history of alcohol or drug abuse, being discharged from another, physician' care because of his/her behavior, and regular noncompliance with physicians' orders. These patients may have misused other prescription medications in the past. It is a good idea to review the SOAPP-R questions with the patient, especially those items the patient endorsed. This will help flesh out the clinical picture, so the provider can be in the best position to design an effective, workable treatment plan.

Careful and thoughtful planning will be necessary for patients in this category. Some patients in this category are probably best suited for other therapies or need to exhaust other interventions prior to entering a treatment plan that includes chronic opioid therapy. Others may need to have psychological or psychiatric treatment prior to or concomitant with any treatment involving opioids. Patients in this category who receive opioid therapy should be required to follow a strict protocol, such as regular urine drug screens, opioid compliance checklists, and counseling.

Specific treatment considerations for patients in this high-risk category:

- Past medical records should be obtained and contact with previous and current providers should be maintained.
- Patients should also be told that they would be expected to initially give a urine sample for a toxicology screen during every clinic visit. They should also initially be given medication for limited periods of time (e.g., every 2-weeks).
- Ideally, family members should be interviewed and involvement with an addiction medicine specialist and/or mental health professional should be sought.
- Less abusable formulations should be considered (e.g., long-acting versus shortacting opioids, transdermal versus oral preparation, tamper-resistant medications).
- Early signs of aberrant behavior and a violation of the opioid agreement should result in a change in treatment plan. Depending on the degree of violation, one might consider more restricted monitoring, or, if resources are limited, referring the patient to a program where opioids can be prescribed under stricter conditions. If violations or aberrant behaviors persist, it may be necessary to discontinue opioid therapy.

\* Note these are general ranges. Clinicians should also complement SOAPP scores with other clinical data such as urine screens and psychological evaluations.



#### Who is at a moderate risk for opioid misuse? (SOAPP-R score = 10 to 21\*)

Patients in this category are judged to be at a medium or moderate risk for opioid misuse. These patients have indicated a history of behaviors or beliefs that are thought to place them at some risk for misuse. Some examples of these behaviors or beliefs are family history of drug abuse, history of psychological issues such as depression or anxiety, a strong belief that medications are the only treatments that will reduce pain and a history of noncompliance with other prescription medications. It is a good idea to review the SOAPP-R items the patient endorsed with the patient present.

Some of these patients are probably best treated by concomitant psychological interventions in which they can learn to increase their pain-coping skills, decrease depression and anxiety, and have more frequent monitoring of their compliance. They may need to be closely monitored until proven reliable by not running out of their medications early and having appropriate urine drug screens.

Additional treatment considerations for patients in this category:

- Periodic urine screens are recommended.
- After a period in which no signs of aberrant behavior are observed, less frequent clinic visits may be indicated. If there are any violations of the opioid agreement, then regular urine screens and frequent clinic visits would be recommended.
- After two or more violations of the opioid agreement, an assessment by an addiction medicine specialist and/or mental health professional should be mandated.
- After repeat violations referral to a substance abuse program would be recommended. A recurrent history of violations would also be grounds for tapering and discontinuing opioid therapy

\* Note these are general ranges. Clinicians should also complement SOAPP scores with other clinical data such as urine screens and psychological evaluations.

#### Who is at a low risk for opioid misuse? (SOAPP-R score < 9\*)

Patients in this category are judged to be at a low risk for opioid misuse. These patients have likely tried and been compliant with many other types of therapies. They should be able to handle their medication safely with minimal monitoring. They are apt to be responsible in their use of alcohol, not smoke cigarettes, and have no history of previous difficulties with alcohol, prescription drugs, or illegal substances. This patient probably reports few symptoms of affective distress, such as depression or anxiety.

As noted previously, the SOAPP-R is not a lie detector. The provider should be alert to inconsistencies in the patient report or a collateral report. Any sense that the patient's story "doesn't add up" should lead the provider to take a more cautious approach until experience suggests that the person is reliable.

Patients in this category would be likely to have no violations of the opioid treatment agreement. These patients are least likely to develop a substance abuse disorder. Additionally, they may not require special monitoring or concomitant psychological treatment.



Additional treatment considerations for patients in this category:

- Review of SOAPP-R questions is not necessary, unless the provider is aware of inconsistencies or other anomaly in patient history/report.
- Frequent urine screens are not indicated.
- Less worry is needed about the type of opioid to be prescribed and the frequency of clinic visits.
- Efficacy of opioid therapy should be re-assessed every six months, and urine toxicology screens and update of the opioid therapy agreement would be recommended annually.

\* Note these are general ranges. Clinicians should also complement SOAPP scores with other clinical data such as urine screens and psychological evaluations.



## Appendix 9 - Pain Intensity and Interference (pain scale)

Pain Intensity and Interference (pain scale)<sup>20</sup>

Pain ir	ntensit	y and	interfe	rence	į į							
In the I where ( were in	ast mo ) is "no pain.]	nth, on pain" a	average nd 10 is	e, how v "pain a	would yo is bad a	ou rate y s could	your pai be"? [7	n? Use That is, y	a scale our usu	from 0 al pain	to 10, at times	you
	No									Pai	n as ba could b	d as e
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	
In the I from 0 t	ast mo to 10, w No erference	nth, ho here 0	w much is "no in	has pai terferer	in interfe nce" and	ered wit d 10 is "	h your d unable t	laily acti to carry	ivities? on any a	Use a s activities Unab an	icale 5"? le to ca y activit	rry or
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	

Interpretation of the Two Item Graded Chronic Pain Scale – This two item version of the Graded Chronic Pain Scale is intended for brief and simple assessment of pain severity in primary care settings. Based on prior research, the interpretation of scores on these items is as follows:

Pain Rating Item	Mild	Moderate	Severe
Average/Usual Pain Intensity	1-4	56	7-10
Pain-related interference with activities	1–3	4-6	7-10

Although pain intensity and pain-related interference with activities are highly correlated and tend to change together, it is recommended that change over time be tracked for pain intensity and pain-related interference with activities separately when using these two items.

For an individual patient, a reduction in pain intensity and improvement in pain-related interference with activities of two points is considered moderate but clinically significant improvement.

Similar pain ratings have been widely used in the Brief Pain Inventory, the Multidimensional Pain Inventory, and the Pain Severity Scale of the SF-12.

There is extensive research on the reliability, validity and responsiveness to change of these pain severity ratings, which is summarized in the following reference:

Von Korff M. Chronic Pain Assessment in Epidemiologic and Health Services Research: Empirical Bases and New Directions. Handbook of Pain Assessment: Third Edition. Dennis C. Turk and Ronald Melzack, Editors. Guilford Press, New York., In press

<sup>20</sup> Interagency Guideline on Opioid Dosing for Chronic Non-cancer Pain: An educational aid to improve care and safety with opioid therapy (Washington State Agency Medical Directors' Group)

# Appendix 10 - Sheehan Disability Scale

Sheehan Disability Scale - permission for use pending

# Appendix 11 - Therapeutic Options for Pain Management

Therapeutic Options for Pain Management<sup>21</sup>

In treating pain, clinicians can avail themselves of five basic modalities of painmanagement tools:

- 1. Cognitive-behavioral approaches
- 2. Rehabilitative approaches
- 3. Complementary and alternative therapies
- 4. Interventional approaches
- 5. Pharmacotherapy

Not all of these options are necessary or appropriate for every patient, but clinical guidelines suggest that all options should be considered every time a health care provider decides to treat a patient with chronic pain. These options can be used alone or in combinations to maximize pain control and functional gains. Only one of these options involves medications and opioids are only one of many types of medications with potential analgesic utility. Which options are used in a given patient depends on factors such as the type of pain, the duration and severity of pain, patient preferences, co-occurring disease states or illnesses, patient life expectancy, cost and the local availability of the treatment option.

# Cognitive-behavioral Approaches

The brain plays a vitally important role in pain perception and in recovery from injury. illness or other conditions involving pain. Psychological therapies of all kinds, therefore, may be a key element in pain management. At the most basic level, such therapy involves patient education about disease states, treatment options or interventions, and methods of assessing and managing pain. Cognitive therapy techniques may help patients monitor and evaluate negative or inaccurate thoughts and beliefs about their pain. For example, some patients engage in an exaggeration of their condition called "catastrophizing" or they may have an overly passive attitude toward their recovery which leads them to inappropriately expect a physician to "fix" their pain with little or no work or responsibility on their part. Another way to frame this is to assess whether a patient has an internal or external "locus of control" relative to their pain. Someone with an external locus of control attributes the cause/relief of pain to external causes and they expect that the relief comes from someone else. Someone with an internal locus of control believes that they are responsible for their own well being; they own the experience of pain and recognize they have the ability and obligation to undertake remediation, with the help of others.

Some chronic pain patients have a strong external locus of control, and successful management of their pain hinges, in part, on the use of cognitive or other types of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> California Medical Association (Prescribing Opioids: Care amid Controversy March 2014)

therapy to shift the locus from external to internal. Individual, group or family psychotherapy may be extremely helpful for addressing this and other psychological issues, depending on the specific needs of a patient.

In general, psychological interventions may be best suited for patients who express interest in such approaches, who feel anxious or fearful about their condition, or whose personal relationships are suffering as a result of chronic or recurrent pain. Unfortunately, the use of psychological approaches to pain management can be hampered by such barriers as provider time constraints, unsupportive provider reimbursement policies, lack of access to skilled and trained providers, or a lack of awareness on the part of patients and/or physicians about the utility of such approaches for improving pain relief and overall function.

# Rehabilitative Approaches

In addition to relieving pain, a range of rehabilitative therapies can improve physical function, alter physiological responses to pain and help reduce fear and anxiety. Treatments used in physical rehabilitation include exercises to improve strength, endurance, and flexibility; gait and posture training; stretching; and education about ergonomics and body mechanics. Exercise programs that incorporate Tai Chi, swimming, yoga or core-training may also be useful. Other noninvasive physical treatments for pain include thermotherapy (application of heat), cryotherapy (application of cold), counter-irritation and electroanalgesia (e.g., transcutaneous electrical stimulation). Other types of rehabilitative therapies, such as occupational and social therapies, may be valuable for selected patients.

## **Complementary and Alternative Therapies**

Complementary and alternative therapies (CAT) of various types are used by many patients in pain, both at home and in comprehensive pain clinics, hospitals or other facilities.27 These therapies seek to reduce pain, induce relaxation and enhance a sense of control over the pain or the underlying disease. Meditation, acupuncture, relaxation, imagery, biofeedback and hypnosis are some of the therapies shown to be potentially helpful to some patients. CAT therapies can be combined with other pain treatment modalities and generally have few, if any, risks or attendant adverse effects. Such therapies can be an important and effective component of an integrated program of pain management.

## Interventional Approaches

Although beyond the scope of this paper, a wide range of surgical and other interventional approaches to pain management exist, including trigger point injections, epidural injections, facet blocks, spinal cord stimulators, laminectomy, spinal fusion, deep brain implants and neuro-augmentative or neuroablative surgeries. Many of these approaches involve some significant risks, which must be weighed carefully against the potential benefits of the therapy.

# Pharmacotherapy

Many types of medications can be used to alleviate pain, some that act directly on pain signals or receptors, and others that contribute indirectly to either reduce pain or improve function. For patients with persistent pain, medications may be used concurrently in an effort to target various aspects of the pain experience.

## NSAIDs and Acetaminophen

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), which include aspirin and other salicylic acid derivatives, and acetaminophen, are categorized as non-opioid pain relievers. They are used in the management of both acute and chronic pain such as that arising from injury, arthritis, dental procedures, swelling or surgical procedures. Although they are weaker analgesics than opioids, acetaminophen and NSAIDs do not produce tolerance, physical dependence or addiction. Acetaminophen and NSAIDs are also frequently added to an opioid regimen for their opioid-sparing effect. Since non-opioids and opioids relieve pain via different mechanisms, combination therapy can provide improved relief with fewer side effects.

These agents are not without risk, however. Adverse effects of NSAIDs as a class include gastrointestinal problems (e.g., stomach upset, ulcers, perforation, bleeding, liver dysfunction), bleeding (i.e., antiplatelet effects), kidney dysfunction, hypersensitivity reactions and cardiovascular concerns, particularly in the elderly. The threshold dose for acetaminophen liver toxicity has not been established, although the FDA recommends that the total adult daily dose should not exceed 4,000 mg in patients without liver disease (although the ceiling may be lower for older adults).

In 2009, the FDA required manufacturers of products containing acetaminophen to revise their product labeling to include warnings of the risk of severe liver damage associated with its use. In 2014, new FDA rules went into effect that set a maximum limit of 325 mg of acetaminophen in prescription combination products (e.g. Vicodin and Percocet) in an attempt to limit liver damage and other ill effects from the use of these products. Of note, aspirin (> 325 mg/d), ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen and other non-cyclooxygenase-selective NSAIDs, are listed as "potentially inappropriate medications" for use in older adults in the American Geriatrics Society 2012 Beers Criteria because of the range of adverse effects they can have at higher doses.

Nonetheless, with careful monitoring, and in selected patients, NSAIDs and acetaminophen can be safe and effective for long-term management of persistent pain.

## Opioids

Opioids can be effective pain relievers because, at a molecular level, they resemble compounds, such as endorphins, which are produced naturally in the human central nervous system. Opioid analgesics work by binding to one or more of the three major

types of opioid receptors in the brain and body: mu, kappa and delta receptors. The most common opioid pain medications are called "mu agonists" because they bind to and activate mu opioid receptors. The binding of mu agonist opioids to receptors in various body regions results in both therapeutic effects (such as pain relief) and side effects (such as constipation).

Physical tolerance develops for some effects of opioids, but not others. For example, tolerance develops to respiratory suppressant effects within 5-7 days of continuous use, whereas tolerance to constipating effects is unlikely to occur. Tolerance to analgesia may develop early, requiring an escalation of dose, but tolerance may lessen once an effective dose is identified and administered regularly, as long as the associated pathology or condition remains stable.

Opioids, as a class, comprise many specific agents available in a wide range of formulations and routes of administration. Short-acting, orally-administered opioids typically have rapid onset of action (10-60 minutes) and a relatively short duration of action (2-4 hours). They are typically used for acute or intermittent pain, or breakthrough pain that occurs against a background of persistent low-level pain. Extended-release/long-acting (ER/LA) opioids have a relatively slow onset of action (typically between 30 and 90 minutes) and a relatively long duration of action (4 to 72 hours). The FDA states that such drugs are "indicated for the management of pain severe enough to require daily, around-the-clock, long-term opioid treatment and for which alternative treatment options are inadequate."

These agents achieve their extended activity in various ways. Some have intrinsic pharmacokinetic properties that make their effects more enduring than short-acting opioids, while others are modified to slow their absorption or to slow the release of the active ingredient. A given patient might be appropriate for ER/LA therapy only, short-acting only or a combination of an ER/LA opioid with a short-acting opioid. Note that patients may respond in very different ways to any given medication or combination of medications. One size does not fit all, and treatment is best optimized by titrating a given regimen on an individual basis. Combination products that join an opioid with a non-opioid analgesic entail the risk of increasing adverse effects from the non-opioid co-analgesic as doses are escalated, even if an increase of the opioid dose is appropriate.

In response to concerns about opioid misuse and abuse, abuse-deterrent and tamperresistant opioid formulations have been developed. One class of deterrent formulation incorporates an opioid antagonist into a separate compartment within a capsule; crushing the capsule releases the antagonist and neutralizes the opioid effect. Another strategy is to modify the physical structure of

tablets or incorporate compounds that make it difficult or impossible to liquefy, concentrate, or otherwise transform the tablets. Although abuse-deterrent opioid formulations do not prevent users from simply consuming too much of a medication, they may help reduce the public health burden of prescription opioid abuse.

Patients who receive opioids on a long-term basis to treat pain are considered to be receiving long-term opioid analgesic therapy, which is differentiated from opioid use by patients who have an established opioid use disorder who use an opioid (e.g. methadone) as part of their treatment program.

## Potential Adverse Effects of Opioids

Although opioid analgesics (of all formulations) may provide effective relief from moderate-to-severe pain, they also entail the following significant risks:

- Overdose
- Misuse and diversion
- Addiction
- Physical dependence and tolerance
- Potentially grave interactions with other medications or substances
- Death

At the heart of much of the current controversy over the use of opioid analgesics for chronic pain are beliefs about the degree to which these pain medications are potentially addicting. Unfortunately, it is difficult to quantify the degree of addictive risk associated with opioid analgesics, either for an individual patient or the population of pain patients in general.

In this context, it is critical to differentiate addiction from tolerance and physical dependence which are common physiological responses to a wide range of medications and even to widely-consumed non-prescription drugs (e.g. caffeine). Physical dependence and tolerance alone are not synonymous with addiction. Addiction is a complex disease state that severely impairs health and overall functioning. Opioid analgesics may, indeed, be addicting, but they share this potential with a wide range of other drugs such as sedatives, alcohol, tobacco, stimulants and anti-anxiety medications.

Rigorous, long-term studies of both the potential effectiveness and potential addictive risks of opioid analgesics for patients who do not have co-existing substance-use disorders have not been conducted. The few surveys conducted in community practice settings estimate rates of prescription opioid abuse of between 4% to 26%. A 2011 study of a random sample of 705 patients undergoing long-term opioid therapy for non-cancer pain found a lifetime prevalence rate of opioid-use disorder of 35%.41 The variability in results reflect differences in opioid treatment duration, the short-term nature of most studies and disparate study populations and measures used to assess abuse or addiction. Although precise quantification of the risks of abuse and addiction among patients prescribed opioids is not currently possible, the risks are large enough to underscore the importance of stratifying patients by risk and providing proper monitoring and screening when using opioid analgesic therapy.

**Particular caution should be exercised** when prescribing opioids to patients with conditions that may be complicated by adverse effects from opioids, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), congestive heart failure, sleep apnea, current or past alcohol or substance misuse, mental illness, advanced age or patients with a history of kidney or liver dysfunction.

In addition, opioids generally should not be combined with other respiratory depressants, such as alcohol or sedative-hypnotics (benzodiazepines or barbiturates) unless these agents have been demonstrated to provide important clinical benefits, since unexpected opioid fatalities can occur in these combination situations at relatively low opioid doses.

In addition to the potential risks just described, opioids may induce a wide range of side effects including respiratory depression, sedation, mental clouding or confusion, hypogonadism, nausea, vomiting, constipation, itching and urinary retention. With the exception of constipation and hypogonadism, many of these side effects tend to diminish with time. Constipation requires prophylaxis that is prescribed at the time of treatment initiation and modified as needed in response to frequent monitoring. With the exception of constipation, uncomfortable or unpleasant side effects may potentially be reduced by switching to another opioid or route of administration (such side effects may also be alleviated with adjunctive medications). Although constipation is rarely a limiting side effect, other side effects may be intolerable. Because it is impossible to predict which side effects a patient may experience, it is appropriate to inquire about them on a regular basis.

Patients should be fully informed about the risk of respiratory depression with opioids, signs of respiratory depression and about steps to take in an emergency. Patients and their caregivers should be counseled to immediately call 911 or an emergency service if they observe any of these warning signs.

As of January 2014, a California physician may issue standing orders for the distribution of an opioid antagonist to a person at risk of an opioid-related overdose or to a family member, friend, or other person in a position to assist a person at risk of an opioidrelated overdose. A physician may also issue a standing order for the administration of an opioid antagonist to a person at risk of an opioid-related overdose to a family member, friend, or other person in a position to assist a person experiencing or reasonably suspected of experiencing an opioid overdose.

The potential of adverse effects and the lack of data about the addictive risks posed by opioids do not mean these medications should not be used. Common clinical experience and extensive literature document that some patients benefit from the use of opioids on a short or long term basis. Existing guidelines from many sources, including physician specialty societies (American Academy of Pain Medicine, The American Pain Society), various states (Washington, Colorado, Utah), other countries (Canada) and federal agencies (Department of Defense, Veterans Administration), reflect this potential clinical utility.

Recommendations from authoritative consensus documents have been summarized in concise, user-friendly formats such as: Responsible Opiate Prescribing: A Clinician's Guide for the Federation of State Medical Boards; the 2013 Washington State Labor and Industries Guideline for Prescribing Opioids to Treat Pain in Injured Workers; and the Agency Medical Directors' Group 2010 Opioid Dosing Guideline for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain.

## Methadone

Particular care must be taken when prescribing methadone. Although known primarily as a drug used to help patients recovering from heroin addiction, methadone can be an effective opioid treatment for some pain conditions. Methadone is a focus of current debate because it is frequently involved in unintentional overdose deaths. These deaths have escalated as methadone has increasingly been used to treat chronic pain.

Methadone must be prescribed even more cautiously than other opioids and with full knowledge of its highly variable pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Of critical importance is the fact that methadone's analgesic half-life is much shorter than its elimination half-life. This can lead to an accumulation of the drug in the body. In addition, methadone is metabolized by a different group of liver enzymes than most other opioids, which can lead to unexpected drug interactions.

When rotating from another opioid to methadone, extreme caution must be used when referring to equianalgesic conversion tables. Consensus recommendations suggest a 75 to 90% decrement in the equianalgesic dose from conventional conversion tables when a switch is made from another opioid to methadone.

Because the risk of overdose is particularly acute with methadone, patients should be educated about these risks and counseled to use methadone exactly as prescribed. They should also be warned about the dangers of mixing unauthorized substances, especially alcohol and other sedatives, with their medication. This should be explicitly stated in any controlled substance agreement that the patient receives, reads and signs before the initiation of treatment [...].

Although uncommon, potentially lethal cardiac arrhythmias can be induced by methadone. The cardiac health of patients who are candidates for methadone should be assessed, with particular attention paid to a history of heart disease or arrhythmias. An initial ECG may be advisable prior to starting methadone, particularly if a patient has a specific cardiac disease or cardiac risk factors or is taking agents that may interact with methadone. In addition, it is important that an ECG be repeated periodically, because QT interval prolongation has been demonstrated to be a function of methadone blood levels and/or in response to a variety of other medications.

# Adjuvant Pain Medications

Although opioid medications are powerful pain relievers, in the treatment of neuropathic pain and some other centralized pain disorders such as fibromyalgia, they are of limited effectiveness and are not preferred. Other

classes of medications, however, may provide relief for pain types or conditions that do not respond well to opioids. Some of these adjuvant medications exert a direct analgesic effect mediated by non-opioid receptors centrally or peripherally. Others have no direct analgesic qualities but may provide pain relief indirectly via central or peripheral affects.

Commonly-used non-opioid adjuvant analgesics include antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) and local anesthetics (LAs). AEDs, such as gabapentin and pregabalin, are used to treat neuropathic pain, especially shooting, stabbing or knife-like pain from peripheral nerve syndromes.TCAs and some newer types of antidepressants may be valuable in treating a variety of types of chronic and neuropathic pain, including post-herpetic neuralgia and diabetic neuropathy. LAs are used to manage both acute and chronic pain. Topical application provides localized analgesia for painful procedures or conditions with minimal systemic absorption or side effects. Topical Las are also used to treat neuropathic pain. Epidural blocks with LAs, with or without opioids, play an important role in managing postoperative and obstetrical pain.

# Appendix 12 - Non-Opioid Pain Management Tool

Non-Opioid Pain Management Tool - permission for use pending

# <u>Appendix 13 – Suggested Language on Naloxone for Pain Management</u> <u>Agreement</u>

- I understand that "overdose" is a risk of opioid therapy which can lead to death. I understand and can recognize the signs and symptoms of overdose including respiratory depression.
- I understand that I will be prescribed naloxone because overdose is a risk of opioid therapy. I understand that naloxone is a drug that can reverse opioid overdose. I understand when and how to use naloxone.
  - I understand it is strongly encouraged to share information about naloxone with my family and friends.
  - I understand it is strongly encouraged to teach family and friends how to respond to an overdose.

## Appendix 14 – Suggested Patient Pain Medication Agreement and Consent

# PATIENT PAIN MEDICATION AGREEMENT AND CONSENT

## This agreement is important for you:

- You will have a safe and controlled pain treatment plan.
- Your medicines have a high potential for abuse. They can be dangerous if used in the wrong way. You need to understand the risks that come from use of pain medicines.

Please read and make sure you understand each statement here. Here are rules about refills and health risks. Here are also reasons for stopping your pain control treatment.

#### I WILL:

- I will only get my pain medicine from this clinic during scheduled appointments.
- I will take my pain medicine the way that my healthcare provider has ordered.
- I will be honest with all my healthcare providers if I am using street drugs.
- I will be honest about all the medicine I use. This includes medicine from stores and herbal medicines.
- I will be honest about my full health history.
- □ I will tell my healthcare provider if I go to an emergency room for any reasons.
- □ If I get pain medicine from an emergency room, I will tell my healthcare provider.
- □ I will call this office if I am prescribed any new medicine.
- I will call this office if I have a reaction to any medicine.
- I will tell all other healthcare providers that I have a pain medication agreement.
- I will tell the emergency room people that I have a pain medication agreement.
- I will take drug tests and other tests when I am told to do so.
- I will go to office visits when I am told to do so.
- I will go to physical therapy when I am told to do so.
- I will go to counseling when I am told to do so.
- I will follow directions for all treatment.
- □ I will show up on time for all appointments.
- I will make an appointment for refills before I run out of medicine.
- I will tell my health provider if I will be out of town so that I can get my refills.
- I will get past health records from other offices when needed.
- I will deliver these records by hand if needed. I will do this within one month of being asked. I will pay for these records if needed.
- I will give permission to this clinic to talk about my treatment with pharmacies, doctors, nurses, and others who are helping me.
- I will give permission to any healthcare provider to get information from this clinic about my health and my pain treatment.
- I will take responsibility if I overdose myself accidentally or on purpose.
- I will tell my healthcare provider if I plan to become pregnant.
- I will tell my healthcare provider if I am pregnant while I am taking pain medicine.
- I will only take this medicine the way I was told to take it.



# CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE

#### I WILL NOT:

- □ I will not share or sell, or trade any of my medicine.
- I will not drink alcohol or take street drugs while I am taking pain medicine.
- □ I know that I cannot call the office to have my medicine refilled over the phone.
- I will not go to the emergency room or other doctors for more pain medicine or other drugs.
- I know that when I drive a car, I must be fully alert. I know that when I use machines, I must also be fully alert. Pain medicines can make me less alert. When I am taking pain medicines, I need to be sure that I am alert. I need to be sure that it is safe for me to drive a car or use a machine.
- I will not stand in high places or do anything to hurt others after I have taken pain medicine.
- I will not leave my medicine where it can be stolen or where others can take it.
- □ I will not leave my medicine where children can find it.
- I will not suddenly stop taking my medicine. I know that if I do this, I can have withdrawals.

#### WHEN USING A PHARMACY, I WILL:

- I will use the same pharmacy for all my medicines. This is the pharmacy that I have picked: \_\_\_\_\_
- I will not ask for early refills or more pain medicine, even if I lose my medicine.

#### I KNOW THAT

- Pain management may include other treatment. Some treatment may not include medicine.
- Pain medicine will probably not get rid of all of my pain. Pain medicine can reduce my pain so that I can do more and have a better life.
- Part of my treatment is to reduce my need for pain medicine.
- □ If the pain medicines work, I will continue to use them. If the pain medicine does not help me, it will be stopped.
- □ My medicines will not be replaced if any of these things happen: Medicine is lost. Medicine gets wet.
- Medicine is destroyed If my medicine is stolen, I might be able to get more medicine if I get a report from the police about the medicine being stolen.
- Any of my healthcare providers can find out from the California Prescription Drug Monitoring Program about any other medicines I get from any other pharmacy in California. This is called a CURES report.
- My healthcare provider may contact the drug enforcement agency, if I try to get other doctors to give me pain medicine.
- Healthcare providers may contact the drug enforcement agency if I am not honest about how I take pain medicine.
- My doctor and my clinic will help with any investigation if I am suspected of prescription drug abuse.
- I may be sent somewhere else for drug abuse or addiction help if I need it.
- Pain medicine can be addictive. This means that my body may need more and more pain medicine or that it can be hard for me to stop taking this medicine.
- If I suddenly stop using the medicine, I can get withdrawals.
- □ If I use too much pain medicine, I can end up with health problems. I could die.
- If I mix medicines, I could also end up with health problems. I could die.

Here are some this	ings that could go wro	ong if I use too much medicine or	mix medicines:	
Overdose	Addiction	Constipation	Vomiting	Sleepiness
Slower reflexes	Nausea	Difficulty with urination	Confusion	Itching
Problems with sex	Dry mouth	Depression	Trouble breathing	Death

#### CAUSE FOR DISMISSAL FROM THIS CLINIC

I know that the pain medicines may be stopped if I break any part of this contract.

My signature below means that I have read this contract. I am signing this to say that I understand all of this contract.

Patient Name

1000	121121		
Doctor	Namo		
DOCIDI	1 TOLLIC		

Patient Signature



Date:

San Diego County Medical Society



# Appendix 15 – Suggested Treatment Plan Using Prescription Opioids

Pati	ent name:
Pres	schber name:
	THE PURPOSE OF THIS AGREEMENT IS TO STRUCTURE OUR PLAN TO WORK TOGETHER TO TREAT YOUR CHRONIC PAIN. THIS WILL PROTECT YOUR ACCESS TO CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES AND OUR ABILITY TO PRESCRIBE THEM TO YOU.
(pa	itient) understand the following (initial each):
	_ Opioids have been prescribed to me on a trial basis. One of the goals of this treatment is to improve my abilit to perform various functions, including return to work. If significant demonstrable improvement in my function
	capabilities does not result from this trial of treatment, my prescriber may determine to end the trial.
	Goal for improved function:
	_ Opioids are being prescribed to make my pain tolerable but may not cause it to disappear entirely. If that goal not reached, my physician may end the trial.
	Goal for reduction of pain:
	_ Drowsiness and slowed reflexes can be a temporary side effect of opioids, especially during dosage adjust- ments. If I am experiencing drowsiness while taking opioids, I agree not to drive a vehicle nor perform other tasks that could involve danger to myself or others.
	Using opioids to treat chronic pain will result in the development of a physical dependence on this medication and sudden decreases or discontinuation of the medication will lead to symptoms of opioid withdrawal. Thes symptoms can include: runny nose, yawning, large pupils, goose bumps, abdominal pain and cramping, diar- rhea, vomiting, irritability, aches and flu-like symptoms. I understand that opioid withdrawal is uncomfortable not physically life threatening.
	_ There is a small risk that opioid addiction can occur. Almost always, this occurs in patients with a personal or family history of other drug or alcohol abuse. If it appears that I may be developing addiction, my physician m determine to end the trial

Continued on other side.

#### I agree to the following (initial each):

...... I agree not to take more medication than prescribed and not to take doses more frequently than prescribed.

\_\_\_\_ I agree to keep the prescribed medication in a safe and secure place, and that lost, damaged, or stolen medication will not be replaced.

\_\_\_\_\_I agree not to share, sell, or in any way provide my medication to any other person.

I agree to obtain prescription medication from one designated licensed pharmacist. I understand that my doctor may check the Utah Controlled Substance Database at any time to check my compliance.

I agree not to seek or obtain ANY mood-modifying medication, including pain relievers or tranquilizers from ANY other prescriber without first discussing this with my prescriber. If a situation arises in which I have no alternative but to obtain my necessary prescription from another prescriber, I will advise that prescriber of this agreement. I will then immediately advise my prescriber that I obtained a prescription from another prescriptor.

\_\_\_\_\_ I agree to refrain from the use of ALL other mood-modifying drugs, including alcohol, unless agreed to by my prescriber. The moderate use of nicotine and caffeine are an exception to this restriction.

\_\_\_\_\_ I agree to submit to random urine, blood or saliva testing, at my prescriber's request, to verify compliance with this, and to be seen by an addiction specialist if requested.

\_\_\_\_\_ I agree to attend and participate fully in any other assessments of pain treatment programs which may be recommended by the prescriber at any time.

I understand that ANY deviation from the above agreement may be grounds for the prescriber to stop prescribing opioid therapy at any time.

Patient Signature

Date

Prescriber Signature

Date

## Appendix 16 – Suggested Strategies for Tapering and Weaning



Washington State Agency Medical Directors' Group, 2007

68

# Clinical Policy: Critical Issues in the Prescribing of Opioids for Adult Patients in the Emergency Department

From the American College of Emergency Physicians Opioid G	uideline Writing Panel
Stephen V. Cantrill, MD (Chair)	
Michael D. Brown, MD, MSc (Methodologist)	
Russell J. Carlisle, MD	
Kathleen A. Delaney, MD	
Daniel P. Hays, PharmD, BCPS	
Lewis S. Nelson, MD	
Robert E. O'Connor, MD, MPH (ACEP Board Liaison)	
AnnMarie Papa, DNP, RN, CEN, NE-BC (ENA Representative)	
Karl A. Sporer, MD	
Knox H. Todd, MD, MPH	
Rhonda R. Whitson, RHIA (Clinical Practice Manager, ACEP)	
Providing Technical Assistance:	
Leonard J. Paulozzi, MD, MPH, Medical Epidemiologist,	Jacqueline Spaulding, MD, Medical Officer, Division of
Division of Unintentional Injury Prevention, National	Anestnesia, Analgesia, and Addiction Products,
Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for	Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Food and
Disease Control and Prevention	Drug Administration
Chet Pogostin, DVM, MPA, Deputy Director, Division of	
Unintentional Injury Prevention, National Center for	
Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease	Annual buthe ACER Reard of Directory June 14
Control and Prevention	Approved by the ACEP Board of Directors, June 14,
Bob A. Rappaport, MD, Director, Division of Anesthesia,	2012
Analgesia, and Addiction Products, Center for Drug	Supported by the Emergency Nurses Association, July 18,

Evaluation and Research, Food and Drug Administration

This clinical policy was funded under contract 200-2011-M-38670 with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Unintentional Injury.

2012

DISCLAIMER: The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, or the Food and Drug Administration.

Policy statements and clinical policies are the official policies of the American College of Emergency Physicians and, as such, are not subject to the same peer review process as articles appearing in the print journal. Policy statements and clinical policies of ACEP do not necessarily reflect the policies and beliefs of *Annals of Emergency Medicine* and its editors.

0196-0644/\$-see front matter

Copyright @ 2012 by the American College of Emergency Physicians. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2012.06.013

[Ann Emerg Med. 2012;60:499-525.]

# ABSTRACT

This clinical policy deals with critical issues in prescribing of opioids for adult patients treated in the emergency department (ED). This guideline is the result of the efforts of the American College of Emergency Physicians, in consultation with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and the Food and Drug Administration. The critical questions addressed in this clinical policy are: (1) In the adult ED patient with noncancer pain for whom opioid prescriptions are considered, what is the utility of state prescription drug monitoring programs in identifying patients who are at high risk for opioid abuse? (2) In the adult ED patient with acute low back pain, are prescriptions for opioids more effective during the acute phase than other medications? (3) In the adult ED patient for whom opioid prescription is considered appropriate for treatment of new-onset acute pain, are short-acting schedule II opioids more effective than short-acting schedule III opioids? (4) In the adult ED patient with an acute exacerbation of noncancer chronic pain, do the benefits of prescribing opioids on discharge from the ED outweigh the potential harms?

## INTRODUCTION

Pain is a major symptom of many patients presenting to the emergency department (ED), with up to 42% of ED visits being related to painful conditions.<sup>1</sup> Pain management has received increased emphasis in the past decade, including The Joint Commission's focus on patient analgesia<sup>2</sup> and increasing institutional emphasis placed on patient satisfaction surveys covering pain management. Much literature, including the most recent Institute of Medicine report on this topic, has stressed that health care providers have not done as well as possible in the area of pain management.<sup>3</sup> A possible unintended consequence of these efforts is the increase in prescription drug abuse, especially opioid abuse, the fastest-growing drug abuse problem in the United States.<sup>4</sup>

As part of this issue, there has been a startling increase in unintentional drug overdoses and related deaths since the late 1990s.<sup>5,6</sup> Reported overdose deaths involving opioid analgesics increased from 4,030 in 1999 to 14,800 in 2008.<sup>7,8</sup> Data from 2008 reveal that drug overdoses were the second leading cause of injury death in the United States, after motor vehicle crashes.<sup>9</sup> Currently, deaths from opioid analgesics are significantly greater in number than those from cocaine and heroin combined.<sup>8</sup>

The efforts of clinicians to improve their treatment of pain, along with pharmaceutical industry marketing, have been factors in contributing to a significant increase in the sale and distribution of opioids in the United States. For example, the sales of opioid analgesics to hospitals, pharmacies, and practitioners quadrupled between 1999 and 2010.<sup>8</sup> Drug sales and distribution data of opioids show an increase from 180 mg morphine equivalents per person in the United States in 1997 to 710 mg per person in 2010.<sup>8,10</sup> This is the equivalent of 7.1

kg of opioid medication per 10,000 population, or enough to supply every American adult with 5 mg of hydrocodone every 4 hours for a month.<sup>8</sup>

The dilemma of treating pain appropriately while avoiding adverse events is further complicated by insufficient data supporting the long-term use of opioids in the treatment of chronic noncancer pain. Although selective use of opioids in the treatment of acute pain is traditionally accepted, the treatment of chronic noncancer pain is more complex. Many authors have begun to question the routine long-term use of opioids for the treatment of chronic noncancer pain.<sup>11-13</sup> Multiple practice guidelines have been developed to address this issue.<sup>14-19</sup> However, most recommendations in this area are of a consensus nature, being based on experiential or low-quality evidence.

Data from 2009 show that there were more than 201.9 million opioid prescriptions dispensed in the United States during that year.<sup>20</sup> It is difficult to obtain reliable data concerning the degree to which this is an emergency medicine issue, but during 2009, in the 10- to 19-year-old and 20- to 29-year-old patient groups, emergency medicine ranked third among all specialties in terms of number of opioid prescriptions, writing approximately 12% of the total prescriptions in each age group. In the 30- to 39-year-old group, emergency medicine ranked fourth.<sup>20</sup> Although these data do not deal with total doses dispensed by specialty, it is commonly postulated that the population served in EDs as a whole is at high risk for opioid abuse.<sup>21</sup>

The significant increase in opioid-related deaths has raised the concern of many.<sup>5,6,8</sup> This problem has also been observed in the pediatric population.<sup>22-24</sup> Action at the national level includes the recent proposal from the Food and Drug Administration for the establishment of physician education programs for the prescribing of long-acting and extended-release opioids as part of their national opioid risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (the REMS program).<sup>25</sup> State efforts to address this issue have included the development of statewide opioid prescribing guidelines, such as those developed by the Utah Department of Health<sup>17</sup> and statewide ED opioid prescribing guidelines, such as those developed in Washington State by the Washington chapter of the American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP) working with other state organizations.<sup>16</sup> Some individual EDs and emergency physician groups have also promulgated opioid prescribing guidelines. Some of these policies also deal with the necessity of patient education about the safe use and proper disposal of opioid medications. Early data indicate that, in some cases, these guidelines may decrease prescription opioid overdose.<sup>26</sup> Anecdotal experience suggests that public policies such as these may change patient perceptions of appropriate prescribing and mitigate complaints arising from more stringent prescribing practices. ACEP has approved related policy statements about optimizing the treatment of pain in patients with acute presentations and the implementation of electronic prescription drug monitoring programs.<sup>27,28</sup>

This clinical policy addresses several issues believed to be important in the prescribing of opioids by emergency physicians for adult patients treated and released from the ED for whom opioids may be an appropriate treatment modality. Although relieving pain and reducing suffering are primary emergency physician responsibilities, there is a concurrent duty to limit the personal and societal harm that can result from prescription drug misuse and abuse. Because long-acting or extended-release opioids are not indicated for the treatment of acute pain, the aim of this clinical policy is to provide evidence-based recommendations for prescribing short-acting opioids for adult ED patients with painful acute or chronic conditions while attempting to address the increasing frequency of adverse events, abuse, and overdose of prescribed opioid analgesics.

## METHODOLOGY

This clinical policy was created after careful review and critical analysis of the medical literature. The critical questions were formulated in the PICO (patient, intervention, comparison, outcome)<sup>29</sup> format to strengthen the clarity and scientific rigor of the questions. Searches of MEDLINE, MEDLINE InProcess, and the Cochrane Library were performed. All searches were limited to English-language sources, human studies, adults, and years 2000 to 2011. Specific key words/phrases and years used in the searches are identified under each critical question. In addition, relevant articles from the bibliographies of included studies and more recent articles identified by committee members were included.

This policy is a product of the ACEP clinical policy development process, including expert review, and is based on the literature; when literature was not available, consensus of panel members was used. Expert review comments were received from emergency physicians, toxicologists, pain and addiction medicine specialists, pharmacologists, occupational medicine specialists, and individual members of the American Academy of Clinical Toxicology, American Academy of Family Physicians, American Academy of Pain Medicine, American Chronic Pain Association, American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, American College of Osteopathic Emergency Physicians, American College of Physicians, American Pain Society, American Society of Health-System Pharmacists, American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians, Emergency Medicine Resident's Association, and Emergency Nurses Association. Their responses were used to further refine and enhance this policy; however, their responses do not imply endorsement of this clinical policy. Clinical policies are scheduled for revision every 3 years; however, interim reviews are conducted when technology or the practice environment changes significantly. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention was the funding source for this clinical policy.

All articles used in the formulation of this clinical policy were graded by at least 2 subcommittee members for quality and strength of evidence. The articles were classified into 3 classes of Agenda Item 16

evidence on the basis of the design of the study, with design 1 representing the strongest evidence and design 3 representing the weakest evidence for therapeutic, diagnostic, and prognostic studies, respectively (Appendix A). Articles were then graded on dimensions related to the study's methodological features: blinded versus nonblinded outcome assessment, blinded or randomized allocation, direct or indirect outcome measures (reliability and validity), biases (eg, selection, detection, transfer), external validity (ie, generalizability), and sufficient sample size. Articles received a final grade (Class I, II, III) on the basis of a predetermined formula, taking into account the design and study quality (Appendix B). Articles with fatal flaws or that were not relevant to the critical question were given an "X" grade and were not used in formulating recommendations for this policy. Evidence grading was done with respect to the specific data being extracted and the specific critical question being reviewed. Thus, the level of evidence for any one study may have varied according to the question, and it is possible for a single article to receive different levels of grading as different critical questions were answered. Question-specific level of evidence grading may be found in the Evidentiary Table included at the end of this policy. Evidence grading sheets may be viewed at http://www.acep.org/clinicalpolicies/?pg=1.

Clinical findings and strength of recommendations about patient management were then made according to the following criteria:

*Level A recommendations.* Generally accepted principles for patient management that reflect a high degree of clinical certainty (ie, based on strength of evidence Class I or overwhelming evidence from strength of evidence Class II studies that directly address all of the issues).

*Level B recommendations.* Recommendations for patient management that may identify a particular strategy or range of management strategies that reflect moderate clinical certainty (ie, based on strength of evidence Class II studies that directly address the issue, decision analysis that directly addresses the issue, or strong consensus of strength of evidence Class III studies).

*Level C recommendations.* Other strategies for patient management that are based on Class III studies, or in the absence of any adequate published literature, based on panel consensus.

There are certain circumstances in which the recommendations stemming from a body of evidence should not be rated as highly as the individual studies on which they are based. Factors such as heterogeneity of results, uncertainty about effect magnitude and consequences, and publication bias, among others, might lead to such a downgrading of recommendations.

This policy is not intended to be a complete manual on the evaluation and management of adult ED patients with painful conditions where prescriptions for opioids are being considered, but rather is a focused examination of critical issues that have particular relevance to the current practice of emergency medicine.

The goal of the ACEP Opioid Guideline Panel is to provide an evidence-based recommendation when the medical literature provides enough quality information to answer a critical question. When the medical literature does not contain enough quality information to answer a critical question, the members of the ACEP Opioid Guideline Panel believe that it is equally important to alert emergency physicians to this fact.

Recommendations offered in this policy are not intended to represent the only management options that the emergency physician should consider. ACEP clearly recognizes the importance of the individual physician's judgment. Rather, this guideline defines for the physician those strategies for which medical literature exists to provide support for answers to the critical questions addressed in this policy.

*Scope of Application.* This guideline is intended for physicians working in hospital-based EDs.

*Inclusion Criteria.* This guideline is intended for adult patients presenting to the ED with acute noncancer pain or an acute exacerbation of chronic noncancer pain.

*Exclusion Criteria.* This guideline is not intended to address the long-term care of patients with cancer or chronic noncancer pain.

## **CRITICAL QUESTIONS**

1. In the adult ED patient with noncancer pain for whom opioid prescriptions are considered, what is the utility of state prescription drug monitoring programs in identifying patients who are at high risk for opioid abuse?

### Recommendations

*Level A recommendations.* None specified. *Level B recommendations.* None specified.

*Level C recommendations.* The use of a state prescription monitoring program may help identify patients who are at high risk for prescription opioid diversion or doctor shopping.

Key words/phrases for literature searches: opioid, drug prescriptions, drug monitoring, drug utilization review, substance abuse detection, drug-seeking behavior, drug and narcotic control, substance-related disorders, physician's practice patterns, program evaluation, emergency service, and variations and combinations of the key words/phrases with exclusion of cancer.

Emergency physicians must balance oligoanalgesia (undertreatment or ineffectual treatment of pain) with concerns about drug diversion<sup>\*</sup> and doctor shopping.<sup> $\dagger$ 30-33</sup> Therefore, the

\*Drug diversion: The diversion of drugs for nonmedical use through routes that do not involve the direct prescription of the drug by a provider. Diverted drugs might be provided by family or friends, purchased on the street market, or obtained through fraudulent prescription. Epidemiologic data suggest that most opioids used nonmedically are obtained through these means. development of mechanisms to address these issues is justified. The expanded use of prescription drug monitoring programs to curb prescription opioid misuse was recommended in the 2011 Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan released by the White House Office of National Drug Control Policy.<sup>34</sup> Prescription drug monitoring programs are state-based monitoring programs for certain controlled substances that are prescribed by licensed practitioners and dispensed by pharmacies. Although existing in various forms for more than 3 decades, the first effort to standardize prescription drug monitoring practice was the passage in 2005 of the National All Schedules Prescription Electronic Reporting Act (NASPER). Unfortunately, this federal legislative mandate that intended to harmonize prescription drug monitoring programs across the various states has yet to be fully funded.

Prescription drug monitoring programs ideally serve multiple functions, including identifying patients who engage in doctor shopping, and patients, providers, or pharmacies who engage in diversion of controlled substances and providing information about prescribing trends for surveillance and evaluation purposes. Such information may serve to benefit the patients, the health care system, epidemiologists, policymakers, regulatory agencies, and law enforcement.<sup>35</sup> Certain large health care systems, particularly closed prescribing systems such as the Veterans Administration and health maintenance organizations, maintain databases that allow prescribers to view recent prescriptions of enrolled clients or patients. Forty-one states have operational prescription drug monitoring programs of various complexity and capability, with an additional 7 states having prescription drug monitoring program legislation in place but with programs that are not yet operational. <sup>36</sup> Most states allow health care providers and pharmacists to access the programs for patients under their care. Other groups such as law enforcement and regulatory boards may also have access. One program tracks only schedule II drug prescriptions, whereas most track drug prescriptions of schedule II to IV or II to V drugs.

Despite prescription drug monitoring programs providing an intuitive perception of benefit for the medical community, there are limited data to indicate any benefit of these programs for improving patient outcomes or reducing the misuse of prescription drugs.<sup>37</sup> In part, this relates to the limited optimization of and standardization between the programs and the lack of a mechanism to allow interstate communication.<sup>35</sup>

†Doctor shopping: The practice of obtaining prescriptions for controlled substances from multiple providers, which is regarded as a possible indication of abuse or diversion. There is no rigorous definition, and various authors have defined it in different ways, from 2 or more prescribers within 30 days, greater than 4 during 1 year, and greater than 5 during 1 year.<sup>30-32</sup> It has also been defined as the amount of drug obtained through doctor shopping compared with the amount intended to be prescribed.<sup>33</sup> The use of "pill mills," in which a prescriber provides ready access to prescriptions or pills, can be considered a form of doctor shopping.

In an attempt to quantify the effect of a prescription drug monitoring program, Baehren et al<sup>39</sup> conducted a prospective study (Class III) of 18 providers who cared for a convenience sample of adult patients with pain in a single Ohio ED. After the clinical assessment of a patient, the researchers queried the providers about 3 patient-specific issues: (1) the likelihood of querying the state's prescription drug monitoring program, called Ohio Automated Rx Reporting System; (2) the likelihood of providing an opioid prescription at discharge; and (3) if yes, which opioid and what quantity. They were then provided with a printout of the patient data from the prescription drug monitoring program and asked to reassess the same questions. Of the 179 patients with complete data, information from the Ohio Automated Rx Reporting System altered prescribing practice in 74 of 179 (41%). The majority (61%) of these patients received fewer or no opioids, whereas 39% received more. The change in management was attributed to the number of previous prescriptions, 30 of 74 (41%); number of previous prescribers, 23 of 74 (31%); number of pharmacies used, 19 of 74 (26%); and number of addresses listed, 12 of 74 (16%). A limitation of this study was that 4 prescribers accounted for almost two thirds of the total patient encounters. In this study, knowledge of the information provided by a prescription drug monitoring program had an important impact on the prescription practices for controlled substances in an ED, although the actual effect of prescription drug monitoring program data on patient outcomes in this study is unknown.

Although not specifically evaluating the benefit of prescription drug monitoring programs on identifying high-risk patients, Hall et al,<sup>32</sup> in a Class III study, reviewed characteristics of decedents who died of prescription drugs in West Virginia and reported that opioid analgesics accounted for 93% of deaths. Cross-referencing the medical examiner's detailed analysis of the cause of death with the West Virginia prescription monitoring program, the authors determined the prescription history of the drug associated with each fatality. Patients who had received controlled drugs from 5 or more prescribers in the year before death were defined as engaging in "doctor shopping," whereas those whose death was not associated with a valid prescription were considered to have obtained their drugs through "diversion." Of the 295 deaths that were reviewed, the mean age of patients who died was 39 years, and 92% were between ages 18 and 54 years. Diversion was associated with 186 (63%) of the fatalities, and doctor shopping was associated with 63 (21%) of the fatalities. Of the 295 total decedents, 279 (95%) had at least 1 indicator of substance abuse, and these differed according to whether the drug was obtained through diversion or doctor shopping. Deaths involving diversion were associated with a history of substance abuse (82.3% versus 71.6%; odds ratio [OR] 1.8; 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.0 to 3.4), nonmedical route of

pharmaceutical administration (26.3% versus 15.6%; OR 1.9; 95% CI 1.0 to 3.8), and a contributory illicit drug (19.4% versus 10.1%; OR 2.1; 95% CI 1.0 to 4.9). Patients with evidence of doctor shopping were significantly more likely to have had a previous overdose (30.2% versus 13.4%; OR 2.8; 95% CI 1.4 to 5.6) and significantly less likely to have used contributory alcohol (7.9% versus 19.8%; OR 0.3; 95% CI 0.1 to 0.9). Few patients (8.1%) were involved in both doctor shopping and diversion. The study suggests that the information provided by a prescription drug monitoring program, with correct interpretation and action based on that knowledge, might have prevented some inappropriate prescribing and poor outcomes in this patient population.

In another Class III study, Pradel et al<sup>33</sup> monitored prescribing trends for buprenorphine in a select area of France, using a prescription drug database during a multiple-year period. During this time, a prescription drug monitoring program was implemented, allowing a before-after comparison of the buprenorphine prescribing pattern for more than 2,600 patients. The doctor shopping drug quantity, which was defined as the total drug quantity received by the patient minus the quantity prescribed by an individual provider, increased from 631 g in the first 6 months of 2000 to a peak of 1,151 g in the first 6 months of 2004, equivalent to 143,750 days of treatment at 8 mg/day. The doctor shopping ratio, determined as the ratio of the quantity delivered to the quantity prescribed, increased steadily from early 2000 (14.9% of the grams of drug prescribed) to a peak value in the first 6 months of 2004 (21.7%). After implementation of the prescription drug monitoring program in early 2004, this value decreased rapidly, in fewer than 2 years reaching the value observed in 2000. The points of inflection of the doctor shopping curves (quantity and ratio) coincided with the implementation of the prescription drug monitoring program, suggesting an immediate benefit of this program. The prescribed quantity did not change after the implementation, indicating that access to treatment may not have changed. Eighty percent of the total doctor shopping quantity of buprenorphine was obtained by approximately 200 (8%) of the total patients. However, it is difficult to make any inferences about the effect of a decrease in doctor shopping, given the fractional amount of total prescribing accounted for by this practice.<sup>33</sup> The authors suggested that the doubling in the street price of buprenorphine after the prescription drug monitoring program implementation was an indicator of success.

An observational study of opioid-related deaths by Paulozzi et al<sup>37</sup> highlights some important considerations in the assessment of the effectiveness of prescription drug monitoring programs. The authors assessed the mortality rate from 1999 to 2005 from schedule II and III prescription opioids in the United States and compared states that had prescription drug monitoring programs with those that did not. They further divided states with prescription drug monitoring programs into those that proactively informed prescribers, generally by mail, of potential

misuse and those that did not. This study found no difference in the mortality rates over time for states with and without a prescription drug monitoring program, nor did states with proactive prescription drug monitoring programs perform better than those with programs that were not proactive. There was a nonsignificantly lower rate of consumption of schedule II opioids and a significantly higher rate of consumption of hydrocodone (schedule III) in states that had a prescription drug monitoring program. A major limitation of this study is that the variability in the prescription drug monitoring program structure, including the ability of health care providers to access the database, was not considered. Current applicability is somewhat limited by substantial changes in the manner in which prescription drug monitoring programs function since the study was conducted, including the extent of physician access and the definition of patient inclusion criteria. Because of the practical limitation of the delay in informing the prescriber of a patient's potential drug misuse, the proactive notification aspect of these programs would have minimal effect on emergency medical practice in states that cannot provide prescription drug monitoring program data in real time.

In conclusion, there are no studies that directly evaluate the effect of real-time, voluntary access to a prescription drug monitoring program on prescribing practices of emergency physicians. In addition, the broader effect of such access on diversion, abuse, doctor shopping, mortality, and the possibility of pain undertreatment remains undefined. Prescription drug monitoring programs have many limitations in their current format, including complex access issues, limitations on access permission, thresholds for patient listing, timeliness, interstate communication, and whether the data are presented to the physician automatically or require physician effort to retrieve. Furthermore, the recent addition of prescription drug monitoring programs in several states and continuing changes in the structure or function of existing programs limit the direct application of even recently published research. Legislation designed to improve prescription drug monitoring program operation (eg, NASPER) has stalled or remained underfunded, and concerns over patient confidentiality have often trumped public health concerns. Until an interstate, frequently updated, multiple-drug-schedule, easily accessible, widely used prescription drug monitoring system is implemented, the likelihood of success is limited.35

# 2. In the adult ED patient with acute low back pain, are prescriptions for opioids more effective during the acute phase than other medications?

## Recommendations

*Level A recommendations.* None specified. *Level B recommendations.* None specified. *Level C recommendations.* (1) For the patient being discharged from the ED with acute low back pain, the emergency physician should ascertain whether nonopioid analgesics and nonpharmacologic therapies will be adequate for initial pain management.

(2) Given a lack of demonstrated evidence of superior efficacy of either opioid or nonopioid analgesics and the individual and community risks associated with opioid use, misuse, and abuse, opioids should be reserved for more severe pain or pain refractory to other analgesics rather than routinely prescribed.

(3) If opioids are indicated, the prescription should be for the lowest practical dose for a limited duration (eg, <1 week), and the prescriber should consider the patient's risk for opioid misuse, abuse, or diversion.

Key words/phrases for literature searches: acute low back pain, opioid, and variations and combinations of the key words/phrases.

Acute low back pain is a common ED presenting complaint. Opioids are frequently prescribed, expected, or requested for such presentations.<sup>40,41</sup> In a recent study, it was estimated that low back pain-related disorders result in approximately 2.6 million annual ED visits in the United States. Of medications either administered in the ED or prescribed at discharge, the most frequently used classes were opioids (61.7%; 95% CI 59.2% to 64.2%), nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (49.6%; 95% CI 46.7% to 52.3%), and muscle relaxants (42.8%; 95% CI 40.2% to 45.4%).41 The opioid analgesics most commonly prescribed for low back pain, hydrocodone and oxycodone products, are also those most prevalent in a Government Accountability Office study of frequently abused drugs.<sup>42</sup> Low back pain as a presenting complaint was also observed in a recent study to be associated with patients at higher risk for opioid abuse.<sup>43</sup> Low back pain, although a common acute presentation, is also often persistent and recurrent, with 33% of patients continuing to complain of moderate-intensity pain and 15% of severe pain at 1 year from initial presentation. Symptoms recur in 50% to 80% of people within the first year.<sup>44</sup> In one study, 19% reported opioid use at a 3-month follow-up.<sup>40</sup> Emergency physicians, as a specialty, are among the higher prescribers of opioid pain relievers for patients aged 10 to 40 years.<sup>20</sup> Recent data show simultaneous increases in overall opioid sales rates and prescription opioid-related deaths and addiction rates and suggest that widespread use of opioids has adverse consequences for patients and communities.8

There is a paucity of literature that addresses the use of opioids after ED discharge for acute low back pain versus the use of NSAIDs or the combination of NSAIDs and muscle relaxants. Two meta-analyses published in the last 5 years identified relatively few valid studies that address the use of opioids for low back pain.<sup>45,46</sup>

In a Class III 2008 Cochrane review, NSAIDs were compared with opioids and muscle relaxants for the treatment of low back pain.<sup>46</sup> Three studies were reviewed that compared opioids (2 of which are no longer in use) with NSAIDs for treatment of acute low back pain, including 1 study considered by the Cochrane reviewers to be of higher quality.<sup>47</sup> None of the individual studies found statistically significant differences in pain relief. A Class III review by McIntosh and Hall<sup>45</sup> of clinical evidence for treatment of acute low back pain similarly found no evidence for superiority of opioids over other therapies and no direct information to demonstrate that opioids were better than no active therapy; however, the authors concluded that the opioid-related studies were too small to detect any clinically important differences.

A Class III Cochrane review of NSAID treatment for acute low back pain evaluated 65 studies (including more than 11,000 patients) of mixed methodological quality that compared various NSAIDs with placebo, other drugs, other therapies, and other NSAIDs.<sup>46</sup> The review authors concluded that NSAIDs are slightly effective for short-term symptomatic relief in patients with acute and chronic low back pain without sciatica (pain and tingling radiating down the leg). In patients with acute sciatica, no difference in effect between NSAIDs and placebo was found but moderate efficacy was found for opioids. The systematic review also reported that NSAIDs are no more effective than other drugs (acetaminophen, opioids, and muscle relaxants). Placebo and acetaminophen had fewer adverse effects than NSAIDs, and NSAIDS had fewer adverse effects than muscle relaxants or opioids.

A 2003 Cochrane review of muscle relaxants for low back pain (Class X because it did not address the role of opioids) found that muscle relaxants were effective for short-term symptomatic relief in patients with acute and chronic low back pain.<sup>48</sup> However, muscle relaxants were associated with a high incidence of adverse effects. This study cited strong evidence in 4 trials involving a total of 294 people that oral nonbenzodiazepine muscle relaxants are more effective than placebo in patients with acute low back pain for short-term pain relief, global efficacy, and improvement of physical outcomes.

Although no superiority has been demonstrated for opioids over other therapies for treatment of acute low back pain, groups have recommended against use of opioids as first-line therapy for treatment of this problem.<sup>49,50</sup> A guideline for diagnosis and treatment of low back pain endorsed by the American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society recommends opioids only for severe, disabling pain that is not controlled or not likely to be controlled with acetaminophen or NSAIDs.<sup>49</sup> In their 2007 guidelines, the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine stated that <u>routine</u> use of opioids for acute, subacute, or chronic low back pain is not recommended.<sup>50</sup>

Several observational non-ED studies also suggest caution with regard to opioid prescribing for back pain. Franklin et al,<sup>51</sup> in a retrospective study (Class X because of the non-ED patient population), found that workers with acute low back injury and worker's compensation claims who were treated with prescription opioids within 6 weeks of acute injury for more than 7 days had a significantly higher risk for long-term disability. In a subsequent Class III population-based prospective study of opioid use among injured Washington State workers with low back pain, Franklin et al<sup>52</sup> observed a strong association between the amount of prescribed opioids received early after injury and long-term use of prescription opioids. A retrospective study of 98 workers with acute low back pain and subsequent disability claims by Mahmud et al<sup>53</sup> found that patients whose treatment of new work-related low back pain involved opioid use for 7 days or more were more likely to have long-term disability (relative risk 2.58; 95% CI 1.22 to 5.47); however, the direct applicability of this study (Class X) was limited because most patients were not seen in the ED. In another study that addressed associations of long-term outcome with opioid therapy for nonspecific low back pain, Volinn et al<sup>54</sup> found that the odds of chronic work loss were 11 to 14 times greater for claimants treated with schedule II ("strong") opioids compared with those not treated with opioids at all. They further observed that the strong associations between schedule II use and long-term disability suggest that for most workers, opioid therapy did not arrest the cycle of work loss and pain. Although this study was also graded as Class X because of the population selected and failure to directly address acute or immediate benefit, the results highlight potential problems of treating acute low back pain with opioids.<sup>54</sup> Unfortunately, causation cannot be directly inferred from these studies because of possible confounding.

In summary, although opioids currently offer the most potent form of pain relief, there is essentially no published evidence that the prescription of opioid analgesics for acute low back pain provides benefit over other available medications or vice versa. Several observational studies suggest associations of both prescription of "strong" opioids or longer prescription duration (greater than 7 days) and early opioid prescribing with worsened functional outcomes. Additionally, as noted, the overall increased rate of opioid sales has been strongly associated with adverse effects in the community (overdose, addiction, aberrant use, and death).<sup>8</sup> Therefore, it can be recommended that opioids not be routinely prescribed for acute low back pain but reserved for select ED patients with more severe pain (eg, sciatica) or pain refractory to other drug and treatment modalities. Prescriptions for opioids should always be provided for limited amounts and for a limited period. Extra caution (such as use of prescription drug monitoring programs and seeking of collateral patient information such as patient visit history) may be indicated for patients identified as possibly having an increased risk for substance dependence or abuse.

## 3. In the adult ED patient for whom opioid prescription is considered appropriate for treatment of new-onset acute pain, are short-acting schedule II opioids more effective than short-acting schedule III opioids?

## Recommendations

Level A recommendations. None specified.

*Level B recommendations.* For the short-term relief of acute musculoskeletal pain, emergency physicians may prescribe short-acting opioids such as oxycodone or hydrocodone

products while considering the benefits and risks for the individual patient.

*Level C recommendations.* Research evidence to support superior pain relief for short-acting schedule II over schedule III opioids is inadequate.

Key words/phrases for literature searches: opioids, schedule II narcotics, schedule III narcotics, acute pain, acute disease, emergency service, and variations and combinations of the key words/phrases.

Schedules II and III are classifications established by the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970 and determined by the Drug Enforcement Administration. Among other criteria, classification decisions for specific drugs are based on judgments about the potential for their abuse. Schedule II opioids include morphine (eg, MS Contin), oxymorphone (eg, Opana), oxycodone (eg, Roxicodone) and oxycodone combination products (eg, Percocet, Percodan), as well as hydromorphone (eg, Dilaudid) and fentanyl (eg, Duragesic patch, Actiq). Schedule III opioids include combination products, such as hydrocodone (15 mg or less) combined with acetaminophen (eg, Vicodin, Lortab) or ibuprofen (eg, Vicoprofen), as well as some of the codeine combination products.<sup>55</sup> Schedule classifications for opioids may change over time in response to a number of factors, including their perceived risk of abuse. Calls to reclassify hydrocodone combination products (eg, Vicodin, Lortab) from schedule III to schedule II have increased in recent years in response to increasing levels of abuse of these substances.

These recommendations address only new-onset acute pain. Long-acting or extended-released schedule II products such as oxycodone ER (OxyContin), methadone, fentanyl patches, or morphine extended-release (MS Contin) are indicated for chronic pain and should not be used for acute pain.<sup>56</sup> Longacting and extended-release opioids are for use in opioidtolerant patients only and are not intended for use as an "asneeded" analgesic. In addition, the immediate-release oral transmucosal formulations of fentanyl are indicated only for breakthrough pain relief in cancer patients who are already taking sustained-release medications and are opioid tolerant. These formulations should not be used for acute new-onset pain.

As part of the decision to prescribe opioids for new onset of acute pain, the care provider can select between short-acting schedule II or III agents (Table). In general, equianalgesic doses of opioids are equally efficacious in relieving pain. Therefore, *a priori*, there is no reason to consider an equianalgesic dose of a short-acting schedule II opioid more effective in providing pain relief than a short-acting schedule III opioid. However, some studies have compared schedule II and III opioids combined with nonopioid analgesics with one another. Two prospective randomized controlled trials have compared the efficacy of short-acting oxycodone, a schedule II drug, with hydrocodone combination products (schedule III) and found them to be equal.<sup>57,58</sup> In 2005, Marco et al<sup>57</sup> compared single doses of

**Table.** Short-acting oral opioid formulations. Dose and intervalare recommended starting dosing ranges.

Medication	Initial Dose/Interval	Schedule
Codeine/APAP	30-60 mg* PO Q4-6h PRN	
Codeine	30-60 mg PO Q4-6h PRN	11
Hydrocodone/APAP	5-15 mg* PO Q4-6h PRN	111
Hydromorphone	2-4 mg PO Q4-6h PRN	11
Morphine	15-30 mg PO Q4-6h PRN	11
Oxycodone/APAP	5-15 mg* PO Q4-6h PRN	11
Oxycodone	5-15 mg PO Q4-6h PRN	11
Oxymorphone	10-20 mg PO Q4-6h PRN	Ш

APAP, acetaminophen; *h*, hour; *mg*, milligram; *PO*, by mouth; *PRN*, as needed; *Q*, every.

\*Listed dose is of the opioid component. Note that the acetaminophen component is now limited to 325 mg or less per pill.

oxycodone 5 mg with hydrocodone 5 mg (both combined with 325 mg acetaminophen). In this single-site Class II study of 67 adolescent and adult subjects with acute fractures, no differences in analgesic efficacy were observed at 30 or 60 minutes. Constipation rates were higher for hydrocodone. In a 2002 Class I study, Palangio et al<sup>58</sup> compared oxycodone 5 mg combined with acetaminophen 325 mg (schedule II) with hydrocodone 7.5 mg combined with ibuprofen 200 mg (schedule III) in a prospective, multicenter, multidose, randomized controlled trial of 147 adults with acute or recurrent low back pain. During an 8day study period, no differences were found in pain relief, doses taken, global evaluations of efficacy, health status, or pain interference with work. As noted above, equianalgesic doses of opioids have similar efficacy in the treatment of acute pain, no matter their Drug Enforcement Administration classification. Given this understanding, it was not unexpected that 2 randomized controlled trials comparing schedule II with III agents found no differences in analgesic efficacy.

## 4. In the adult ED patient with an acute exacerbation of noncancer chronic pain, do the benefits of prescribing opioids on discharge from the ED outweigh the potential harms?

### Recommendations

Level A recommendations. None specified.

Level B recommendations. None specified.

*Level C recommendations.* (1) Physicians should avoid the routine prescribing of outpatient opioids for a patient with an acute exacerbation of chronic noncancer pain seen in the ED.

(2) If opioids are prescribed on discharge, the prescription should be for the lowest practical dose for a limited duration (eg, <1 week), and the prescriber should consider the patient's risk for opioid misuse, abuse, or diversion.

(3) The clinician should, if practicable, honor existing patient-physician pain contracts/treatment agreements and

Agenda Item 16

consider past prescription patterns from information sources such as prescription drug monitoring programs.

Key words/phrases for literature searches: opioid, patient discharge, pain, emergency service, and variations and combinations of the key words/phrases with exclusion of cancer.

Patients with chronic noncancer pain, either already taking opioids or not, commonly present to the ED for treatment of acute exacerbation of their pain. There have been no studies that evaluate the efficacy or potential harms of prescribing opioids specifically for these patients on discharge from the ED. Thus, given the paucity of evidence, this critical question cannot be definitively answered. Despite the biological plausibility that treating any acute exacerbation of pain with parenteral or oral opioids should decrease pain intensity, no studies were found to support this hypothesis.

Only 2 randomized controlled trials were identified that addressed the use of short-acting opioids for the treatment of breakthrough pain in patients taking opioids for chronic noncancer pain; transmucosal fentanyl was the intervention for both trials.<sup>59,60</sup> Because of methodological problems, valid estimates for efficacy of the intervention could not be determined, but adverse event rates among both treated populations were common and similar (range 63% to 65%) (Class III).

A systematic review of nonrandomized studies by Devulder et al<sup>61</sup> examined the effect of rescue medications on overall analgesic efficacy and adverse events. They examined 48 studies of patients treated with long-acting opioids for chronic noncancer pain and compared the analgesic efficacy and adverse events among those that allowed short-acting opioid rescue medications for breakthrough pain with those that did not allow such rescue medications. Although graded Class X because of lack of randomized studies and the limitation of harms studied to adverse effects only, no significant difference in the analgesic efficacy between the rescue and nonrescue studies was found. There was also no difference between these 2 groups in the incidence of nausea, constipation, or somnolence. Kalso et al,62 in a Class III systematic review, found that 80% of patients receiving opioids for chronic noncancer pain had at least 1 adverse event, including nausea (32%), constipation (41%), and somnolence (29%).

Studies of the use of opioids for chronic pain indicate that adverse effects of these drugs are common. Several studies assessed the adverse effects with the use of tramadol with acetaminophen in the treatment of patients with chronic low back pain.<sup>63-65</sup> All of the studies had high dropout rates and reported adverse event rates of nausea, dizziness, and somnolence between 8% and 17%. Allan et al,<sup>66</sup> in a nonblinded Class III study comparing transdermal fentanyl versus oral morphine, found a constipation rate of 48% in the morphine-treated patients. Constipation was also the major adverse effect in a Class III study by Hale et al<sup>67</sup> comparing oxymorphone extended release, oxycodone controlled release,

and placebo. Furlan et al,<sup>68</sup> in a Class II meta-analysis of 41 randomized studies of opioid use in the treatment of chronic noncancer pain, found that constipation and nausea were the only significant adverse effects. Holmes et al,<sup>69</sup> however, in a Class III study, assessed an opioid screening instrument, the Pain Medication Questionnaire, in chronic noncancer pain patients and found that those patients with a higher score were more likely to have a substance abuse problem or request early refills of their opioid prescription. In a retrospective Class III cohort study, Jensen et al<sup>70</sup> conducted a 10-year follow-up on patients discharged from a pain clinic and found that chronic opioid treatment may put patients at risk for chronic depression. Unfortunately, near-universal shortcomings of these studies include the exclusion of patients with a history of substance abuse, other significant medical problems, or psychiatric disease, and lack of follow-up to detect long-term effects such as aberrant drug-related behaviors, addiction, or overdose. Therefore, studies such as these can be confounded, making the ability to draw conclusions about causality difficult.

Questions of opioid effectiveness involve the assessment of reduction in pain and improvement in function for the patient, potential patient adverse effects, and the potential harm to the community (eg, opioid diversion and abuse) from the drugs prescribed. Hall et al,<sup>32</sup> in a Class III retrospective analysis of 295 unintentional prescription overdose deaths, found that 93% were due to opioids, 63% represented pharmaceutical drug diversion, 21% of the patients had engaged in doctor shopping, and 95% of the patients had a history of substance abuse. Although no studies have addressed the effects related to dose and duration of prescribed opioids in this specific patient population, 2 general studies have shown a correlation between high daily opioid dose and overdose death.<sup>71,72</sup>

Patient assessment tools such as the Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain (SOAPP), Opioid Risk Tool (ORT), Diagnosis, Intractability, Risk, and Efficacy (DIRE), and others to assess the risk of prescription opioid misuse and abuse have yet to be fully validated in the ED in terms of sensitivity, specificity, and utility.<sup>73</sup> Many, however, believe that use of these tools, as imperfect as they are, represents a beginning in the ability to better quantify potential risks related to opioid prescribing for outpatients.

Many patients undergoing treatment for chronic noncancer pain have pain contracts/treatment agreements with their primary care providers. These should be honored if possible in treating any acute exacerbation of their pain.<sup>74,75</sup> As discussed in critical question 1, use of prescription drug monitoring programs may also assist the emergency physician in making appropriate clinical decisions about the use of outpatient opioid prescriptions for these patients.

## **FUTURE RESEARCH**

Provider pain management practices related to opioids are highly variable. In part, this variability reflects the lack of evidence to guide many of these therapeutic decisions.<sup>76</sup>

Although there is high-quality research assessing the treatment of acute pain with opioid analgesics during the ED encounter, there is a paucity of studies assessing the benefits of prescribing opioids for discharged ED patients with acute pain and chronic noncancer pain, especially in comparison to other analgesic drugs and pain treatment modalities. Therefore, clinical decisions and practice recommendations must rely on practice experience and consensus rather than research evidence.

ED populations typically include patients with unmet substance abuse treatment needs and psychiatric comorbidities, and many of these patients present with acute pain.<sup>77</sup> In almost all pain studies, these patients are excluded, leaving clinicians with little evidence-based guidance for their pain management. There are also significant research gaps in clearly understanding the long-term harms of opioids, including drug abuse and addiction, aberrant drug-related behaviors, and diversion. As mentioned above, further research and validation is needed on ED patient abuse and addiction-related assessment tools. Additional studies to characterize individual patient-related risks for opioid abuse are also greatly needed.

Although there has been recent widespread adoption of prescription monitoring programs, there remains a dearth of evidence about the effectiveness of these programs in altering physician prescribing patterns or diminishing the adverse effects of opioids in the community. For research in this area to advance, further refinement of prescribing metrics (quantity, duration, and frequency) and public health measures is required. Comparison of the functionality and effectiveness of the various state prescription drug monitoring program models may provide additional insight into developing best practices that could be adopted nationally, including the sharing of data between states. Important distinctions among the states, such as immediate online prescriber access to the prescription monitoring program, should be examined for their relative contributions. However, this type of analysis must consider baseline variability among states for prescription opioid misuse (versus heroin or methadone, for example) and other statespecific issues (such as prescription-writing regulations).

With respect to the treatment of acute low back pain in the ED, there is a need for quality studies comparing the effectiveness of the more commonly prescribed opioids (hydrocodone and oxycodone congeners and other semisynthetic opioids) and nonopioid therapies, with attention to confounding variables such as depression or other psychopathology. Further study is needed to validate or refute the reported associations of early or potent opioid prescribing with increased rates of disability.<sup>51</sup> Given the frequency of acute low back pain as an ED presentation and its association with perceived drug-seeking behavior,<sup>78</sup> and with apparent higher risk for misuse,<sup>43</sup> more attention needs to be paid to discriminatory historical or physical factors that may be predictive of drug-seeking or abuse to allow better matching of treatment modality for individual patients.

Future studies should include additional multiple-dose analgesic protocols to better understand the postdischarge experience of patients with acute pain and what would constitute optimum patient follow-up provisions. Investigators should include clinically relevant study periods (days to weeks), which vary by diagnosis; thus, trials should be stratified by specific presenting complaints, pain site, discharge diagnosis, and classification of pain type, ie, nociceptive, neuropathic, and visceral pain. In addition to measuring pain and adverse effects, functional outcomes, such as return to work or pain-related quality-of-life measures, should be included.<sup>79</sup> Straightforward observational studies are needed to determine the relative duration of different acute pain presentations, thus informing decisions to prescribe an appropriate number of opioid doses per prescription. Current prescribing practice often involves a "one size fits all" pattern that is encouraged by electronic prescribing software. Prescribing practices that ignore variable durations of acute pain syndromes will predictably result in undertreatment for some patients and overtreatment for others. The latter increases the likelihood that unused opioids will be diverted into nonmedical use in communities at risk.

Additional research should include evaluation of the appropriateness of patient satisfaction as a quality metric as related to patient expectations of opioids and the prevalence of providers reporting pressure through low patient satisfaction scores or administrative complaints to provide opioids when the providers believe these drugs are not medically indicated. This issue may gain increased importance with the institution of the Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) survey, which may tie some reimbursement to patient satisfaction scores. Additional work is needed to investigate what constitutes an appropriate educational curriculum in both medical school and residency for physician education concerning safe, appropriate, and judicious use of opioids.

Research addressing the treatment of chronic noncancer pain would be enhanced by the use of accepted case definitions, standardized definitions of adverse events, and validated pain measurements. Case definitions should use a similar definition of chronic, nociceptive (musculoskeletal or visceral) versus neuropathic pain, or pain by disease type (headache, low back pain, etc). Research reporting also requires more refined descriptions of opioid potency and routes of administration.

Although opioids represent a treatment modality that has long been used in patient care, it is clear by the paucity of definitive answers to the questions posed in this document and the significant number of future research issues that much work remains to be done to clarify the best use of opioids in the care of patients.

**Relevant industry relationships/potential conflicts of interest:** Dr. Sporer is a consultant to Alcomed, a pharmaceutical company. Dr. Todd serves on the Professional Advisory Board of the American Chronic Pain Association and has previously been a consultant to the pharmaceutical industry.

Relevant industry relationships are those relationships with companies associated with products or services that significantly impact the specific aspect of disease addressed in the critical questions.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Pletcher MJ, Kertesz SG, Kohn MA, et al. Trends in opioid prescribing by race/ethnicity for patients seeking care in US emergency departments. *JAMA*. 2008;299:70-78.
- 2. Phillips DM. Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations. JCAHO pain management standards are unveiled. *JAMA*. 2000;284:428-429.
- Institute of Medicine. Relieving Pain in America: A Blueprint for Transforming Prevention, Care, Education, and Research. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2011.
- Paulozzi LJ, Budnitz DS, Xi Y. Increasing deaths from opioid analgesics in the United States. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2006;15:618-627.
- Piercefield E, Archer P, Kemp P, et al. Increase in unintentional medication overdose deaths: Oklahoma. 1994-2006. *Am J Prev Med.* 2010;39:357-363.
- Porucznik CA, Johnson EM, Sauer B, et al. Studying adverse events related to prescription opioids: the Utah experience. *Pain Med.* 2011;12(suppl 2):S16-S25.
- Xu J, Kochanek KD, Murphy SL, et al. *Deaths: Final Data for* 2007. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; 2010. National Vital Statistics Reports; Vol 58 No. 19.
- Paulozzi LJ, Jones CM, Mack KA, et al. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Vital signs: overdoses of prescription opioid pain relievers—United States, 1999-2008. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2011;60:1487-1492.
- Warner M, Chen LH, Makuc DM, et al. *Drug Poisoning Deaths in the United States, 1980-2008.* Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; 2011. NCHS Data Brief, No. 81.
- United States Department of Justice, Drug Enforcement Administration, Office of Diversion Control. *Automation of Reports and Consolidated Orders System (ARCOS)*. Springfield, VA; 2011. Available at: http://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/arcos/index. html. Accessed October 20, 2011.
- 11. Von Korff M, Kolodny A, Deyo RA, et al. Long-term opioid therapy reconsidered. *Ann Intern Med.* 2011;155:325-328.
- 12. Grady D, Berkowitz SA, Katz MH. Opioids for chronic pain. Arch Intern Med. 2011;171:1426-1427.
- 13. Dhalla IA, Persaud N, Juurlink DN. Facing up to the prescription opioid crisis. *BMJ.* 2011;343:d5142.
- 14. Chou R, Fanciullo GJ, Fine PG, et al. Opioid treatment guidelines. Clinical guidelines for the use of chronic opioid therapy in chronic noncancer pain. *J Pain*. 2009;10:113-130.
- 15. Canadian Guideline for Safe and Effective Use of Opioids for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain. Canada: National Opioid Use Guideline Group (NOUGG); 2010. Available at: http://nationalpaincentre. mcmaster.ca/opioid/. Accessed October 20, 2011.
- 16. Washington Chapter of ACEP, Washington State Emergency Nurses Association, Washington State Medical Association, Washington State Hospital Association. Washington emergency department opioid prescribing guidelines. Available at: http:// washingtonacep.org/Postings/edopioidabuseguidelinesfinal.pdf. Accessed December 16, 2011.
- 17. Utah Department of Health. *Utah Clinical Guidelines on Prescribing Opioids for Treatment of Pain*. Salt Lake City, UT: Utah Department of Health; 2009.

- American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine. ACOEM's Guidelines for the Chronic Use of Opioids. Elk Grove Village, IL: ACOEM; 2011.
- Physicians for Responsible Opioid Prescribing. Cautious, evidence-based opioid prescribing. Available at: http://www. responsibleopioidprescribing.org/educational/PROP\_ OpioidPrescribing.pdf. Accessed February 26, 2012.
- 20. Volkow ND, McLellan TA, Cotto JH. Characteristics of opioid prescriptions in 2009. *JAMA*. 2011;305:1299-1301.
- 21. Hansen GR. The drug-seeking patient in the emergency room. *Emerg Med Clin North Am.* 2005;23:349-365.
- 22. Bond GR, Woodward RW, Ho M. The growing impact of pediatric pharmaceutical poisoning. *J Pediatr.* 2012;160:265-270.
- 23. Bailey JE, Campagna E, Dart RC. The RADARS System Poison Center Investigators. The underrecognized toll of prescription opioid abuse on young children. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2009;53:419-424.
- Tormoehlen LM, Mowry JB, Bodle JD, et al. Increased adolescent opioid use and complications reported to a poison control center following the 2000 JCAHO pain initiative. *Clin Toxicol.* 2011;49: 492-498.
- Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration. Draft blueprint for prescriber education for longacting/extended-release opioid class-wide risk evaluation and mitigation strategy. *Fed Reg.* 2011;76:68766-68767.
- Johnson EM, Porucznik CA, Anderson JW, et al. State-level strategies for reducing prescription drug overdose deaths: Utah's prescription safety program. *Pain Med.* 2011;12(suppl 2):S66-S72.
- 27. American College of Emergency Physicians. Policy statement. Optimizing the treatment of pain in patients with acute presentations. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2010;56:77-79.
- American College of Emergency Physicians. Policy statement. Electronic prescription monitoring. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2012;59:241-242.
- 29. Guyatt G, Rennie D, eds. Users' Guides to the Medical Literature: A Manual for Evidence-based Clinical Practice. Chicago, IL: AMA Press; 2002.
- Wilsey BL, Fishman SM, Gilson AM, et al. Profiling multiple provider prescribing of opioids, benzodiazepines, stimulants, and anorectics. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2010;112:99-106.
- Katz N, Panas L, Kim M, et al. Usefulness of prescription monitoring programs for surveillance—analysis of schedule II opioid prescription data in Massachusetts, 1996-2006. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2010;19:115-123.
- Hall AJ, Logan JE, Toblin RL, et al. Patterns of abuse among unintentional pharmaceutical overdose fatalities. *JAMA*. 2008; 300:2613-2620.
- Pradel V, Frauger E, Thirion X, et al. Impact of a prescription monitoring program on doctor-shopping for high dose buprenorphine. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2009;18:36-43.
- 34. Office of National Drug Control Policy. 2011 Prescription drug abuse prevention plan. Available at: http://www.whitehouse.gov/ sites/default/files/ondcp/issues-content/prescription-drugs/ rx\_abuse\_plan.pdf. Accessed December 10, 2011.
- 35. Gugelmann HM, Perrone J. Can prescription drug monitoring programs help limit opioid abuse? *JAMA*. 2011;306:2258-2259.
- Alliance of States with Prescription Monitoring Programs. PMP program status map. Available at: http://www.pmpalliance.org/. Accessed April 20, 2012.
- Paulozzi LJ, Kilbourne EM, Desai HA. Prescription drug monitoring programs and death rates from drug overdose. *Pain Med.* 2011; 12:747-754.

- Reifler LM, Droz D, Bailey JE, et al. Do prescription monitoring programs impact state trends in opioid abuse/misuse? *Pain Med.* 2012, doi:10.1111/j.1526-4637.2012.01327.x.
- 39. Baehren DF, Marco CA, Droz DE, et al. A statewide prescription monitoring program affects emergency department prescribing behaviors. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2010;56:19-23.
- Friedman BW, O'Mahony S, Mulvey L, et al. One-week and 3month outcomes after an emergency department visit for undifferentiated musculoskeletal low back pain. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2012;59:128-133.
- 41. Friedman BW, Chilstrom M, Bijur PE, et al. Diagnostic testing and treatment of low back pain in US emergency departments. A national perspective. *Spine*. 2010;35:E1406-E1411.
- 42. United States Government Accountability Office. *Instances of Questionable Access to Prescription Drugs*. GA0-11-699. Washington, DC: Government Accountability Office;2011.
- Sullivan MD, Edlund MJ, Fan MY, et al. Risks for possible and probable opioid misuse among recipients of chronic opioid therapy in commercial and Medicaid insurance plans: the TROUP Study. *Pain.* 2010;150:332-339.
- 44. Frymoyer JW. Back pain and sciatica. N Engl J Med. 1988;318: 291-300.
- 45. McIntosh G, Hall H. Low back pain (acute). *Clin Evid (Online)*. 2011;05:1102.
- Roelofs PDDM, Deyo RA, Koes BW, et al. Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs for low back pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2008;(1):CD000396. doi:10.1002/14651858. CD000396.pub3.
- Videman T, Heikkila J, Partanen T. Double-blind parallel study of meptazinol versus diflunisal in the treatment of lumbago. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 1984;9:246-252.
- van Tulder MW, Touray T, Furlan AD, et al. Muscle relaxants for non-specific low-back pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2003; (4):CD004252. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004252.
- Chou R, Qaseem A, Snow V, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of low back pain: a joint clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society. *Ann Intern Med.* 2007;147:478-491.
- 50. American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine. Low Back Disorders. Occupational Medicine Practice Guidelines: Evaluation and Management of Common Health Problems and Functional Recovery in Workers. 2nd ed. Elk Grove Village, IL; 2007.
- Franklin GM, Stover BD, Turner JA, et al. Early opioid prescription and subsequent disability among workers with back injuries. *Spine.* 2008;33:199-204.
- Franklin GM, Rahman EA, Turner JA, et al. Opioid use for chronic low back pain. A prospective, population-based study among injured workers in Washington State, 2002-2005. *Clin J Pain*. 2009;25:743-751.
- 53. Mahmud MA, Webster BS, Courtney TK, et al. Clinical management and the duration of disability for work-related low back pain. *J Occup Environ Med*. 2000;42:1178-1187.
- Volinn E, Fargo JD, Fine PG. Opioid therapy for nonspecific low back pain and the outcome of chronic work loss. *Pain*. 2009; 142:194-201.
- 55. Title 21 Unites States Code (USC) Controlled Substances Act. Section 802. Definitions. US Department of Justice. Drug Enforcement Administration.
- Chou R, Clark E, Helfand M. Comparative efficacy and safety of long-acting oral opioids for chronic non-cancer pain: a systematic review. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2003;26:1026-1048.
- 57. Marco CA, Plewa MC, Buderer N, et al. Comparison of oxycodone and hydrocodone for the treatment of acute pain associated with

fractures: a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2005;12:282-288.

- Palangio M, Morris E, Doyle RT Jr, et al. Combination hydrocodone and ibuprofen versus combination oxycodone and acetaminophen in the treatment of moderate or severe acute low back pain. *Clin Ther.* 2002;24:87-99.
- 59. Portenoy RK, Messina J, Xie F, et al. Fentanyl buccal tablet (FBT) for relief of breakthrough pain in opioid-treated patients with chronic low back pain: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2007;23:223-233.
- 60. Simpson DM, Messina J, Xie F, et al. Fentanyl buccal tablet for the relief of breakthrough pain in opioid-tolerant adult patients with chronic neuropathic pain: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Clin Ther.* 2007;29:588-601.
- Devulder J, Jacobs A, Richarz U, et al. Impact of opioid rescue medication for breakthrough pain on the efficacy and tolerability of long-acting opioids in patients with chronic non-malignant pain. *Br J Anaesth*. 2009;103:576-585.
- 62. Kalso E, Edwards JE, Moore RA, et al. Opioids in chronic noncancer pain: systematic review of efficacy and safety. *Pain*. 2004; 112:372-380.
- Peloso PM, Fortin L, Beaulieu A, et al. Analgesic efficacy and safety of tramadol/acetaminophen combination tablets (Ultracet®) in treatment of chronic low back pain: a multicenter, outpatient, randomized, double blind, placebo controlled trial. *J Rheumatol.* 2004;31:2454-2463.
- Ruoff GE, Rosenthal N, Jordan D, et al. Tramadol/acetaminophen combination tablets for the treatment of chronic lower back pain: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled outpatient study. *Clin Ther.* 2003;25:1123-1141.
- Schnitzer TJ, Gray WL, Paster RZ, et al. Efficacy of tramadol in treatment of chronic low back pain. J Rheumatol. 2000;27:772-778.
- Allan L, Richarz U, Simpson K, et al. Transdermal fentanyl versus sustained release oral morphine in strong-opioid naïve patients with chronic low back pain. *Spine*. 2005;30:2484-2490.
- 67. Hale ME, Dvergsten C, Gimbel J. Efficacy and safety of oxymorphone extended release in chronic low back pain: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo- and active-controlled phase III study. *J Pain*. 2005;6:21-28.
- Furlan AD, Sandoval JA, Mailis-Gagnon A, et al. Opioids for chronic noncancer pain: a meta-analysis of effectiveness and side effects. *CMAJ*. 2006;174:1589-1594.
- Holmes CP, Gatchel RJ, Adams LL, et al. An opioid screening instrument: long-term evaluation of the utility of the Pain Medication Questionnaire. *Pain Pract.* 2006;6:74-88.
- Jensen MK, Thomsen AB, Hojsted J. 10-Year follow-up of chronic non-malignant pain patients: opioid use, health related quality of life and health care utilization. *Eur J Pain*. 2006;10:423-433.
- Bohnert AS, Valenstein M, Bair MJ, et al. Association between opioid prescribing patterns and opioid overdose-related deaths. *JAMA*. 2011;305:1315-1321.
- Paulozzi LJ, Kilbourne EM, Shah NG, et al. A history of being prescribed controlled substances and risk of drug overdose death. *Pain Med.* 2012;13:87-95.
- Passik SD, Kirsh KL, Casper D. Addiction-related assessment tools and pain management: instruments for screening, treatment planning, and monitoring compliance. *Pain Med.* 2008;9(suppl 2):S145-S166.
- Arnold RM, Han PK, Seltzer D. Opioid contracts in chronic nonmalignant pain management: objectives and uncertainties. *Am J Med.* 2006;119:292-296.
- Hariharan J, Lamb GC, Neuner JM. Long-term opioid contract use for chronic pain management in primary care practice. A five year experience. J Gen Intern Med. 2007;22:485-490.

- Tamayo-Sarver JH, Dawson NV, Cydulka RK, et al. Variability in emergency physician decisionmaking about prescribing opioid analgesics. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2004;43:483-493.
- Rockett IRH, Putnam SL, Jia H, et al. Assessing substance abuse treatment need: a statewide hospital emergency department study. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2003;41:802-813.
- Grover CA, Close RJ, Wiele ED, et al. Quantifying drug-seeking behavior: a case control study. *J Emerg Med.* 2012;42: 15-21.
- 79. Keller S, Bann CM, Dodd SL, et al. Validity of the Brief Pain Inventory for use in documenting the outcomes of patients with noncancer pain. *Clin J Pain*. 2004;20:309-318.

Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome Measure/Criterion Standard	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
Hall et al <sup>32</sup>	2008	Retrospective, population based, observational study	Comparison of West Virginia medical examiner data with patient data from the state prescription monitoring program and opioid abuse treatment program records	Behaviors of those who died of a pharmaceutical overdose; diversion; doctor shopping; substance abuse history; type of drug	295 deaths; 67% male; 92% aged 18-54 y; 63% pharmaceutical diversion; 21% doctor shopping; 95% substance abuse history; 93% opioids	Actual source of opioids involved in death not known; single state; not validated definitions; retrospective	III
Pradel et al <sup>33</sup>	2009	Database	Review of prescription drug database (not prescription monitoring program) to identify amount of buprenorphine delivered, prescribed, and obtained by doctor shopping; extension of 2004 study, used multiple time period comparisons; evaluation of trends in doctor shopping over time	Determined prescribed quantity of buprenorphine, delivered quantity, and the doctor shopping quantity	Although there was some variation over time, the trend for prescribing stayed constant overall and doctor shopping decreased after 2004, associated with the change in the mechanism by which prescriptions are monitored	Reasons for multiple providers or overlapping or interrupted prescriptions unclear; did not examine risk factors for abuse	III
Baehren et al <sup>39</sup>	2010	Prospective, uncontrolled	Physicians prescribing analgesics for nonacute pain were asked details about the patient's prescription and then again after being informed of the prescription monitoring program search result for that patient	Change in prescription for the specific patient	179 enrolled; management changed in 41%; 61% received fewer opioids, 39% received more	Convenience sample; majority of data from 4 prescribers	III
Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome Measure/Criterion	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
------------------------------------	------	---	---	---	---	--	-------
				Standard			
McIntosh and Hall <sup>45</sup>	2011	Review of randomized controlled trials, systematic reviews, and observational studies found searching MEDLINE 1966-12/2009, EMBASE 1980 to 12/2009, and Cochrane database up to 12/2009; 49 studies met inclusion criteria	Multiple treatment modalities for acute low back pain, including oral drugs, local injections, and nondrug treatment	Clinical improvement of low back pain	NSAIDs shown to effectively improve symptoms compared with placebo, but use associated with gastrointestinal adverse effects; muscle relaxants may reduce pain and improve clinical assessment but are associated with adverse effects including drowsiness, dizziness,	The studies examining the effects of analgesics such as acetaminophen or opioids were generally too small to detect any clinically important differences	III

514	
Annals of	
` Emergency	
<sup>.</sup> Medicine	

Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
				Measure/Criterion Standard			
Roelofs et al <sup>46</sup>	2008	Cochrane review: search of MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Cochrane central registry of controlled trials up to 7/2007; 65 trials qualified for review	NSAIDs and COX-2 inhibitors administered to treat low back pain	Clinical improvement of low back pain	Review authors found NSAIDs are not more effective than other drugs (acetaminophen, opioids, and muscle relaxants); placebo and acetaminophen had fewer adverse effects than NSAIDs, although the latter had fewer adverse effects than muscle relaxants and opioids; the new COX-2 NSAIDs do not seem to be more effective than traditional NSAIDs but are associated with fewer adverse effects, particularly stomach ulcers, although other literature has shown that some COX-2 NSAIDs are associated with increased cardiovascular risk	7 studies reported on acute low back pain, 5 of which, including 1 higher-quality study, did not find any statistical differences between NSAIDs and opioids or muscle relaxants; there is moderate evidence that NSAIDs are not more effective than other drugs for acute low back pain	Ш
Videman et al <sup>47</sup>	1984	Double- blind parallel study	70 patients; comparative trial of meptazinol vs diflunisal for up to 3 wk	Patients examined at 1-wk intervals for task capability, range of motion, and subjective pain self-assessment	Both regimens produced marked improvement in most parameters, similar adverse effect profiles	No mention of patient randomization	III

Evidentiarv	Table (	continued).

Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome Measure/Criterion Standard	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
Franklin et al <sup>52</sup>	2009	Prospective cohort; Washington State workers with back injury; n=1,883	Prospective cohort of workers with back injuries interviewed at 18 days (medial) and 1 y after injury; pharmacy data obtained from computerized records; analyzed for demographic and covariates	Injury severity, pain, function, and quantities of opioids used	For long-term users total number of medications increased significantly ( $P$ =.01) from the first to the fourth quarter; after adjustment for baseline pain, function, and injury severity, the strongest predictor of longer-term opioid prescriptions was total number of medications in the first quarter; receipt of $\geq$ 10 mg/day medicine in first quarter more than tripled the odds of receiving opioids long term, and receipt of $\geq$ 40 mg/day medicine in first quarter had 6- fold odds of receiving long-term opioids; amount of prescribed opioid received early after injury predicts long- term use	Addressed progression to long-term use according to initial treatment and continuation of same	III

Evidential	y rable (	D ·	T 4 4* ( )/T 4( )/%/T 1 1*4		D K		CL
Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome Measure/Criterion Standard	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
Marco et al <sup>57</sup>	2005	Single site; prospective; double blind; randomized controlled trial; concealment method described; ED patients with fractures	Single dose of oxycodone 5 mg/acetaminophen 325 mg schedule II vs hydrocodone 5 mg/acetaminophen 325 mg schedule III	Primary outcomes were numeric pain scores (0-10) at 30 and 60 min	88 subjects evaluated, 73 enrolled, 67 completed ED study period, 35 to oxycodone, 32 to hydrocodone; no baseline differences, no differences in outcomes at 30 min: -0.6 (95% CI -1.8 to 0.5); 60 min -0.5 (95% CI -2.0 to 1.0); adverse effects higher for constipation with hydrocodone (21% vs 0%; (95% CI 3% to 39%)	Small sample size powered to address acute pain during the first 30 to 60 min in the ED; study also assessed adverse effects during a longer period of time; excluded history of alcohol or opioid or other substance abuse; limited time period	Π
Palangio et al <sup>58</sup>	2002	Prospective multicenter (18 sites), randomized controlled trial, sequential assignment by computer- generated randomization schedule	Hydrocodone 7.5 mg/ibuprofen 200 mg (schedule III) vs oxycodone 5 mg/acetaminophen 325 mg (schedule II)	Primary outcome was mean daily pain relief score at endpoint (day 8 or day of discontinuation), study period up to 8 days, intention-to- treat analysis	147 subjects enrolled (75 hydrocodone/ibuprofen, 72 oxycodone/acetaminophen), adults with acute or recurrent low back pain requiring opioids, 85% completed study in both groups, mean days to endpoint 6.5 vs 6.9 days, no baseline differences, no differences in pain relief, number of pills, global evaluations, SF-36, pain interference with work, adverse events	Excluded drug or alcohol abuse, concealment methods described	I

# Ev St

Evidentia	ry Table (	(continued).					
Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
				<b>Measure/Criterion</b>			
				Standard			
Portenoy	2007	Randomized,	Fentanyl buccal tablet for	Pain before	Fentanyl buccal tablet	Severe selection bias in	III
et al <sup>59</sup>		double blind,	breakthrough pain in chronic low	treatment and for 2	effective for breakthrough	initial screening;	for
		placebo	back pain patients	h after treatment	pain in chronic low back	industry sponsored	adverse
		controlled			pain; adverse effects in		effects
					65%; 34% during double-		
					blind phase		
Simpson	2007	Randomized,	Fentanyl buccal tablet for	Pain before	Fentanyl buccal tablet	Severe selection bias in	III
et al <sup>60</sup>		double blind,	breakthrough pain in chronic pain	treatment and for 2	effective for breakthrough	initial screening;	for
		placebo	patients	h after treatment	pain; adverse effects in	industry sponsored	adverse
		controlled			63%; 22% dropout		effects
Kalso et	2004	Systematic	Randomized trials in chronic	Pain intensity	15 randomized trials were	4-wk duration on	III
al <sup>62</sup>		review	noncancer pain comparing potent	outcomes	included; 11 studies	average; differing	
			opioids with placebo		compared oral opioids for	causes of pain; open	
					4 wk; pain intensity	label in many of the	
					decrease was 30%	studies; limited power	
					compared with placebo;	calculations;	
					only 44% were taking	concealment not	
					opioids by mo 7 to 24;	maintained in some	
					80% of patients	studies	
					experienced at least 1		
					adverse event:		
					constipation (41%),		
					nausea (32%),		
					somnolence (29%)		1 1

Clinical Policy

Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
				Measure/Criterion Standard			
Peloso et al <sup>63</sup>	2004	Prospective, randomized, blinded study	Tramadol/acetaminophen vs placebo; patients with chronic low back pain requiring daily medication for at least 3 mo	Pain VAS; pain relief rating scale; Short Form Magill Pain Questionnaire SF-36; 3-mo trial	336 patients randomized; improved mean final pain scores (47 vs 63; P<.001), adverse effects: nausea 12%, dizziness 11%, constipation 10%, somnolence 9%	35%-40% dropout rate; pharmaceutical- sponsored research	Π
Ruoff et al <sup>64</sup>	2003	Prospective, randomized, blinded study	Tramadol/acetaminophen vs placebo; patients with chronic low back pain requiring daily medication for at least 3 mo	Pain VAS; pain relief rating scale; Short Form Magill Pain Questionnaire SF-36; Roland Disability Questionnaire	318 patients randomized; tramadol improved pain VAS ( $P=.15$ ) and final Pain Relief Rating Scale ( $P<.001$ ); adverse effects: nausea 13%, somnolence 12%, constipation 11%, dizziness 8%	153 of 318 dropped out; pharmaceutical- sponsored research	II

Evidentia	ry Tabi	e (continued).					
Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome Measure/Criterion Standard	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
Schnitzer et al <sup>65</sup>	2000	Prospective, randomized, blinded study	Tramadol/acetaminophen vs placebo; patients with chronic low back pain requiring daily medication for at least 3 mo	Time to discontinuation because of inadequate pain relief; Short Form Magill Pain Questionnaire; Roland Disability Questionnaire	380 patients in open-label phase; 254 entered into blinded phase; time to therapeutic failure was greater in the placebo group ( $P$ <.0001); other parameters showed improvement; adverse effects: nausea 17%, dizziness 15%, somnolence 14%, headache	The dropout rate was the primary outcome; pharmaceutical- sponsored research	III

## Agenda Item 16

Evidentiary	Table	(continued).

Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
-		_		<b>Measure/Criterion</b>			
				Standard			
Allan et al <sup>66</sup>	2005	Nonblinded, randomized	Transdermal fentanyl vs sustained-release oral morphine;	Pain relief (VAS scale); bowel	Comparable pain relief,	Both groups had half of the participants drop	III
		comparison of 2	680 total patients; dose titrated to effect; followed for 13 mo;	function (validated questionnaire);	noninferior, VAS score for	out; vague definition of chronic low back pain;	
		treatments in patients with	outpatient setting; not applicable to ED	quality of life (SF- 36): disease.	fentanyl (56) vs morphine	not blinded	
		chronic low		progression (3-	(55); fentanyl		
		back pain		point scale), days not working.	had lower constipation		
				adverse events all	rate: fentanyl		
				during 13 mo	(31%) vs		
					(48%)		

Evidentiar	'y Tabl	e (continuea).					
Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
		-		<b>Measure/Criterion</b>			
				Standard			
Hale et al <sup>67</sup>	2005	Randomized trial, blinded	Comparison of oxymorphone extended-release vs oxycodone controlled release vs placebo in patients with chronic low back pain who were taking a stable dose of opioids	VAS of pain score 4 h after morning dose; use of breakthrough pain medications; categorical pain intensity, pain intensity, global assessment, adverse events	Opioids were superior to placebo at reducing VAS for pain compared with placebo, oxymorphone (-27), oxycodone (-36); oxymorphone was comparable to oxycodone in pain efficacy and adverse effects; sedation and constipation were more common with opioids (35% vs 29% vs	Only 22 of 75 patients in the placebo group completed the study; included only patients receiving stable opioids and then randomized to opioids or placebo; baseline characteristics between groups not specified; pharmaceutical- sponsored research	III

### . .

Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome Measure/Criterion	Results	Limitations/ Comments	Class
				Standard			
Furlan et al <sup>68</sup>	2006	Meta- analysis	Study included randomized trials of any opioid for chronic noncancer pain (defined as pain for longer than 6 mo) vs placebo or some other nonopioid treatment	41 randomized studies with 6,019 patients evaluated for effectiveness and adverse effects; most (80%) had nociceptive pain	81% of the studies were believed to be of high quality; dropout rates were 33% in the opioid group and 38% in the placebo group; opioids improved pain and functional outcomes compared with placebo in nociceptive and neuropathic pain; strong opioids were superior to naproxen and nortriptyline for pain relief; weak opioids were not superior; constipation and nausea were the only significant adverse effects	Average duration of the study was 5 wk (range 1-16 wk); adequate random patient assignment in only 17 of 41 trials; 90% of trials were pharmaceutical- sponsored research	Π

Volume 60, NO. 4	
October 2012	

Evidentiary Table (continued).							
Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
·		0		Measure/Criterion			
				Standard			
Holmes et al <sup>69</sup>	2006	Prospective cohort	Convenience sample of patients who were new at a pain clinic; Pain Medication Questionnaire was administered; patients were treated with interdisciplinary treatment and/or medications alone, depending on the results of an initial evaluation	Beck Depression Inventory; Confidential Pain questionnaire; SF- 36; Million VAS; Oswestry Disability Questionnaire; Physician Risk Assessment; VAS	271 patients, divided into low-, medium-, and high-score pain medication questionnaire; high-score group was more likely to have a known substance use problem (OR 2.6), request early refills (OR 3.2), or drop out of treatment (OR 2 3)	Only 26% of patients completed the full treatment program; heterogeneous types of pain diagnosis; differing treatment plans	III

## Evidentiary Table (

Lituentia	Evidential y Table (continued).						
Study	Year	Design	Intervention(s)/Test(s)/Modality	Outcome	Results	Limitations/Comments	Class
				<b>Measure/Criterion</b>			
				Standard			
Jensen et	2006	Retrospective	Patients who were treated and	Demographics,	160 patients;	160 of 279 possible	III
$al^{70}$		review of	discharged from a pain clinic 10 y	health care	60% of	patients participated;	
		cohort	ago; medical records were	utilization,	patients were	no control group	
			abstracted and questionnaires	SF-36; Hospital	still taking		
			were sent to willing participants	Anxiety and	long-acting		
				Depression Scale;	opioids;		
				Coping Strategy	dose escalation		
				Questionnaire;	was unusual;		
				CAGE* test	chronic users		
					had lower		
					health-related		
					quality of life		
					and higher		
					occurrence of		
					depression		

*COX-2,* cyclooxygenase-2; *ED,* emergency department; *h*, hour; *mg,* milligram; *min,* minute; *mo,* month; *NSAID,* nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; *OR,* odds ratio; *SF-36,* Short-Form Health Survey; *VAS,* visual analog scale; *vs,* versus; *wk,* week; *y,* year. \*CAGE (Cutting down, Annoyed, Guilty, Eye-opener) test is a method of screening for alcoholism.

### **Appendix A.** Literature classification schema.\*

Design/Class	Therapy <sup>†</sup>	Diagnosis <sup>†</sup>	Prognosis <sup>§</sup>
1	Randomized, controlled trial or meta-analysis of randomized trials	Prospective cohort using a criterion standard or meta-analysis of prospective studies	Population prospective cohort or meta-analysis of prospective studies
2	Nonrandomized trial	Retrospective observational	Retrospective cohort Case control
3	Case series Case report Other (eg, consensus, review)	Case series Case report Other (eg, consensus, review)	Case series Case report Other (eg, consensus, review)

\*Some designs (eg, surveys) will not fit this schema and should be assessed individually.

<sup>†</sup>Objective is to measure therapeutic efficacy comparing interventions.

\*Objective is to determine the sensitivity and specificity of diagnostic tests.

<sup>§</sup>Objective is to predict outcome, including mortality and morbidity.

## Appendix B. Approach to downgrading strength of evidence.

	Design/Class			
Downgrading	1	2	3	
None	I	II		
1 level	Ш	III	Х	
2 levels	III	Х	Х	
Fatally flawed	Х	Х	Х	